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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 23 OCTOBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Myburgh,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Good morn ing  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  you ready?  

ADV MYBURGH:   Yes we are .   The next  w i tness i f  Mr  

S iyabonga Mahlangu.   Mr  Mah langu is  represented by  

Counse l  who is  s i t t ing  to  my r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   Wi l l  he  pu t  h imse l f  on  record?   

You can put  yourse l f  on  reco rd  f rom where  you are  i f  you  10 

jus t  sw i tch  on  your  m icrophone.  

ADV MAROLEN:  I  am Mr  Tsakan i  Maro len  a lso  fo r  Mr  

S iyabonga Mahlangu on the  ins t ruc t ions o f  Mo leko Ratau  

A t to rneys.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.  

ADV MAROLEN:  Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   P lease admin is te r  the  oa th  or  a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR MAHLANGU:   S iyabonga Mahlangu.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ions to  tak ing  the  20 

prescr ibed oath?  

MR MAHLANGU:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MR MAHLANGU:   Yes.  
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REGISTRAR:   Do  you swear  tha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  g ive  

w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e lse  bu t  the  

t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  hand and say,  so  he lp  

me God.  

MR MAHLANGU:   So  he lp  me God.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Mr  Mah langu good morn ing .  

MR MAHLANGU:   Morn ing  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Cou ld  I  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  Bund le  

1  and i f  you cou ld  tu rn  up  page 169.    

MR MAHLANGU:   I  am there .  10 

ADV MYBURGH:   That  on  the  face  o f  i t  appears  to  be  an  

a f f idav i t  o f  yours .   I f  I  cou ld  ask  you p lease to  tu rn  to  174 

wou ld  you conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  your  a f f idav i t  and tha t  you  

s igned i t  under  oa th  on  the  25  August  2020? 

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And then immedia te l y  fo l low ing tha t  a t  

page 175 there  is  a  so  ca l led  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  o f  

yours  and tha t  a f f idav i t  i s  s igned  a t  page 177 wou ld  you  

conf i rm tha t  you s igned the  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  under  

oa th  on  the  28  August  2020? 20 

MR MAHLANGU:   I  con f i rm.  

ADV MYBURGH:   And a t tached  to  tha t  supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t  there  are  two annexures;  Annexure  SM A1 and SM 

A2.   That  you f ind  runn ing  f rom pages 178 th rough  to  page 

182 wou ld  you conf i rm those were  the  two annexures?  
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MR MAHLANGU:   I  con f i rm.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Mr  Cha i rman may I  ask  tha t  the  a f f idav i t  

appear ing  a t  Bund le  1  page –  commencing  a t  169 be  

entered as  Exh ib i t  BB15.2 .5 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  S iyabonga Mahlangu  

s tar t ing  a t  page 169 is  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  BB15.2 .5 .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Mr  Cha i rperson might  I  then ask  tha t  the  

a f f idav i t  –  the  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  Mah langu  

commencing  a t  Bund le  1  page 175 be entered as  Exh ib i t  

BB15.2 .6 .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   The supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t  o f  Mr  

S iyabonga Mahlangu s tar t ing  a t  page 175 is  admi t ted  as  

Exh ib i t  BB15.2 .6 .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Thank you Cha i rperson.   Mr  Mah langu as  

I  have exp la ined to  you I  in tend to  lead you th rough these 

two a f f idav i t s  and ne i ther  o f  wh ich  are  par t i cu la r l y  lengthy  

and go th rough the  contents  and  once I  have done tha t  

then I  w i l l  have a  ser ies  o f  quest ions fo r  you.    

 I f  we can s tar t  w i th  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  you say tha t  

you are  an  adu l t  ma le ,  non-prac t ic ing  a t to rney and the  20 

fo rmer  spec ia l  adv isor  to  the  then Min i s te r  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  Mr  G igaba,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And fo r  what  per iod  o f  t ime d id  you ho ld  

tha t  pos i t ion?  
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MR MAHLANGU:   That  wou ld  be  1  December  2011 unt i l  the  

end o f  las t  adm in is t ra t ion  wh ich  –  tha t  admin is t ra t ion  I  

th ink  ended somewhere  in  May 2014.  

ADV MYBURGH:   You go on to  exp la in  tha t  you were  

inv i ted  by  the  commiss ion  to  submi t  an  a f f idav i t  in  

response to  cer ta in  a l legat ions tha t  have been leve l led  

aga ins t  you Mr  Mapoma.  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   That  you dea l  w i th  a t  paragraph 3 .  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH:   And as  you say the  essence o f  those 

a l legat ions are  and I  quote :  

“Mr  Mah langu ca l led  and put  p ressure  on  

me to  f ina l i se  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama 

accus ing  me o f  caus ing  the  de lay ;  te l l ing  

me Number  1  wanted to  ge t  i t  done qu ick ly.  

You fu r thermore  a l leged tha t  he  sco lded me 

and to ld  me never  to  ca l l  h im aga in . ”  

 So you were  asked to  dea l  w i th  tha t .   Cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH:   And fu r the rmore :   

“The cha i rperson  requested you to  g ive  a  

fu l l  account  o f  what  you know abou t  how the  

se t t lement  be tween Mr  Gama and  Transnet  

came about  inc lud ing  ind ica t ing  any person  
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in  government  a t  the  t ime or  ou ts ide  o f  

government  who to  your  knowledge  p layed a  

ro le  e i the r  d i rec t l y  o r  ind i rec t l y  in  the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama a t  Transnet  o r  in  

the  conc lus ion  o f  the  se t t lement  agreement  

on  the  te rms on wh ich  i t  was conc luded.   In  

par t i cu la r  you were  requested to  ind ica te  

whethe r  your  knowledge anybody in  Cab ine t  

in  2011 p layed a  ro le  d i rec t l y  o r  ind i rec t l y  in  

the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama or  in  the  10 

conc lus ion  o f  the  se t t lement  ag reement  on  

the  te rms on wh ich  i t  was conc luded. ”  

 Cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Then what  you do i s  you have th ree  

head ings be fore  you dea l  w i th  Mr  Mapoma.   The f i rs t  

head ing  is  No Knowledge o f  the  Contents  and De ta i l s  o f  

the  Set t lement  Negot ia t ions  and Consequent  Agreement .  

 Then you dea l  w i th  persons  invo lved in  the  

se t t lement  d iscuss ion .  20 

 Then you dea l  w i th  the  head ing  Nature  o f  ou r  

Re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Gama a t  the  t ime.  

 And then a t  page  172 and fu r ther  you dea l  w i th  the  

a l legat ions made aga ins t  you by  Mr  Mapoma.  

 You conf i rm tha t?  
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MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Myburgh you  know how I  was  fee l ing  

when I  cou ld  no t  p ronounce your  jun io r ’s  surname 

cor rec t ly.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mapoma is  Mapoma.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Ma.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mapoma Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH:   Thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  M-a  –  Mapoma and I  th ink  w i th  10 

Mkwanaz i  you tended to  say Mkwanaz i  i t  i s  Mkwanaz i  

ADV MYBURGH:   Mkwanaz i  w i thou t  the  a .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Mkwanaz i  yes .   I  fee l  bad when anybody 

misp ronounces my name and I  fee l  bad when I  p ronounce  

o ther  peop le ’s  names but  I  know tha t  somet imes I  s t rugg le  

myse l f .   So –  bu t  I  th ink  we a l l  jus t  keep on t ry ing .  

ADV MYBURGH:   Thank you Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH:   So  cou ld  I  then ask  you p lease  to  –  to  

dea l  w i th  the  tex t  under  the  head ing  No knowledge  o f  the  20 

contents  and de ta i l s  o f  the  se t t lement  negot ia t ions and  

consequent  agreement .  

MR MAHLANGU:   Shou ld  I  s ta r t  a t  parag raph 6?  

ADV MYBURGH:   Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:   
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“ I  was not  invo l ved d i rec t l y  o r  ind i rec t l y  in  

the  se t t lement  d iscuss ions lead ing  to  the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.   The on ly  ins igh t  

I  have on the  d i scuss ions was when I  was  

in fo rmed by  Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  then  

Cha i rperson o f  Transnet  and ac t ing  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i ce r  a t  the  t ime tha t  the  

company in tended to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.   

Due to  the  passage o f  t ime I  cannot  reca l l  

the  exact  reasons fo r  o r  contex t  o f  my  10 

d iscuss ions w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   He  

confer red  w i th  me on a  var ie t y  o f  mat te rs  i n  

my capac i ty  as  a  spec ia l  adv i sor  to  the  

Min is te r  and in  h is  capac i ty  as  the  

Cha i rman o f  Transnet  on  th ings tha t  he  

needed me to  convey to  the  Min i s te r  

in fo rmal l y  o r  p r io r  to  any fo rmal  p rocess.   I  

reca l l  tha t  dur ing  my conversa t ion  w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  I  adv ised tha t  i t  was prudent  fo r  

Transnet  to  seek lega l  adv i ce  on  the  20 

company ’s  p roposed cause o f  ac t ion .   We 

d iscussed a  few opt ions on  imminent  

lawyers  –  on  imminent  labour  lawyers  tha t  

he  cou ld  consu l t .   One o f  the  names tha t  

came up is  tha t  o f  Mr  Sbu Gule  who a t  the  
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t ime was a  pa r tner  o r  d i rec tor  a t  Deneys  

Re i tz  now Nor ton  Rose.   I  o f fe red  

suggest ions because o f  my fami l ia r i t y  w i th  

the  lega l  p ro fess ion .   A t  – i t  a l l  remained  

w i th  the  Cha i rman on how he in tended to  

p roceed.   I  d id  no t  reca l l  whether  Mr  –  

whethe r  the  Min is te r  was o f f i c ia l l y  b r ie fed  

by  the  Transnet  Board  o f  D i rec to rs  on  i t s  

in ten t ion  or  dec i s ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.   

I f  th is  happened  ord inar i l y  there  wou ld  be  10 

cor respondence to  th is  e f fec t  addressed to  

the  Min i s te r.   Th i s  cor respondence  wou ld  be  

cons idered by  the  Depar tment ’s  un i t  

respons ib le  fo r  Transpor t  Enterp r ises  and  

one fo r  Lega l  and Governance.   The Deputy  

D i rec tors ’ Genera l  who headed these un i ts  

wou ld  make su i tab le  recommendat ions to  

the  Min is te r  th rough a  dec i s ion  

memorandum.   Th is  memorandum wou ld  ge t  

to  the  Min i s te r  v ia  the  o f f i ce  o f  the  D i rec to r  20 

Genera l .   Th is  t ype o f  in te rna l  

cor respondence  is  o f f i c ia l l y  kept  and  

reg i s te red by  the  Depar tment ’s  Reg is t ry. ”  

ADV MYBURGH:   A l r igh t  and then you go on to  dea l  w i th  

the  persons invo l ved in  the  se t t lement  d iscuss ions  and you  
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record  tha t  save  as  I  s ta te  in  ear l ie r  parag raphs  o f  th is  

a f f idav i t :  

“ I  have no persona l  knowledge  o f  the  

se t t lement  d iscuss ions be tween Mr  Gama 

and Transnet  and the  persons who were  

invo l ved in  such d iscuss ions. ”  

And you say tha t  you on ly  saw the  se t t lemen t  

agreement  when i t  was prov ided to  you  by  the  

commiss ion ’s  ac t ing  sec re tary.   I s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:   I  con f i rm.  10 

ADV MYBURGH:   And then a t  paragraph 10 you s ta te  tha t :  

“Save as  s ta ted  in  th is  a f f idav i t  I  do  no t  

know any person  in  government  a t  the  t ime 

or  ou ts ide  government  who p layed a  ro le  

e i ther  d i rec t l y  o r  ind i rec t l y  in  the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama a t  Transnet  o r  in  

the  conc lus ion  o f  the  se t t lement  

agreement . ”  

 You say:  

“ In  pa r t i cu la r  I  do  no t  know o f  anybody in  20 

Cab ine t  in  2011 who p layed a  ro le  d i rec t l y  

o r  ind i rec t l y  in  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  

Gama or  in  the  conc lus ion  o f  the  se t t lement  

agreement  on  the  te rms on wh ich  i t  was  

conc luded. ”  
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MR MAHLANGU:   I  con f i rm.  

ADV MYBURGH:   And then you  go on to  dea l  w i th  the  

na ture  o f  your  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  Gama a t  the  t ime and 

you s ta te  t ha t  you commenced work  as  a  spec ia l  adv i sor  i n  

December  2010.   The se t t lement  agreement  w i th  Mr  Gama 

you say was conc luded on the  22  February  2011 and you 

s ta te  tha t  by  th is  t ime I  was fam i l ia r i s ing  myse l f  w i th  my 

work  env i ronment .   You had not  met  Mr  Gama or  engaged  

w i th  i ssues per ta in ing  to  h i  employment  o r  d ismissa l .   I s  

tha t  r igh t?  10 

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And you say:  

“P r io r  to  jo in ing  government  I  had –  I  had  

not  had any dea l ings w i th  Mr  Gama whether  

p ro fess iona l l y  o r  soc ia l l y. ”  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And then fo r  the  ba lance o f  the  a f f idav i t  

you dea l  in  the  main  w i th  the  a l legat ions made aga ins t  you 

by  Mr  Mapoma.   Do you want  to  dea l  w i th  those pa ragraphs 

p lease?  20 

MR MAHLANGU:   Thank you Mr  Myburgh I  w i l l  do  so .    

“Mapoma’s  a l legat ions are  conta ined in  

parag raphs 26  to  27  o f  h is  a f f idav i t .   

P r inc ipa l l y  he  a l leges tha t  

1 .  I  p ressured h im to  exped i te  Mr  Gama’s  
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re ins ta tement .  

2 .  He sco lded fo r  do ing  so  and adv i sed me 

never  to  ca l l  h im aga in .  

3 .  He on ly  knew me pro fess iona l l y.  

G iven tha t  a t  the  t ime I  was s t i l l  new in  

my job  I  cou ld  no t  have p ressured Mapoma.   I  

had no reason o r  mot ive  to  p ressure  Mapoma 

or  anyone.   In  any event  my ro le  o r  funct ion  

d id  no t  invo lve  p ressur ing  o f f i c ia ls .   

Fur thermore  my d ispos i t ion  towards Mapoma 10 

and h i s  complementary  soc ia l  ne twork  wou ld  

no t  permi t  me to  ac t  rude ly  towards h im or  

p ressure  h im in  the  manner  t ha t  he  a l leges.   I  

was taken by  surpr i se  to  lea rn  o f  these 

a l legat ions.    

 F i r s t  Mapoma’s  recount  o f  the  na ture  o f  the  

re la t ionsh ip  tha t  ex i s ted  be tween us  is  no t  

en t i re l y  cor rec t .  Dur ing  my t ime as  par tner  a t  

Mah langu Nkomo Maband la  Ratsh imbi lan i  

A t to rneys MNMR I  in te rac ted  w i th  Mapoma 20 

f requent ly  and  deve loped a  pro fess iona l  

re la t ionsh ip  tha t  was based on mutua l  

respect .   I  wou ld  seek h is  counse l  on  how our  

f i rm cou ld  increase i t s  f low o f  work  f rom 

Transnet .   He gave me good adv ice  and wh i ls t  



23 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 290 
 

Page 14 of 134 
 

favourab ly  d isposed towards me.   Th is  t ype o f  

p ro fess iona l  p rox im i ty  cont inued  even a f te r  

our  f i rm merged in to  Edward  Nathan  

Sonnenbergs.    

 Second ly  we had a  common soc ia l  c i rc le .   In  

h is  a f f idav i t  Mapoma underp lays  h is  soc ia l  

c i rc le  and i t s  e f fec t  on  how I  wou ld  v iew h im.   

Th is  c i rc le  cons is ted  o f  f r iends predominant l y  

f rom Umtata  and sur round ing  areas.   Some o f  

these f r iends were  a t to rneys.   I  deve loped a  10 

s t rong bond w i th  them.  Some o f  them I  know 

f rom as ear l y  as  1999.   Mapoma’s  soc ia l i sed  

w i th  th is  c i r c le  –  soc ia l  c i rc le .   I  may not  

remember  the  spec i f i c  events  bu t  I  do  reca l l  

meet ing  h im a t  some o f  the  soc ia l  ga the r ings  

where  I  was inv i ted .  

 In  th is  soc ia l  c i r c le  Mapoma was  regarded 

as  one o f  the  e lder  b ro thers  and was  

accorded commensura te  respec t .   I  a lso  

t rea ted  h im wi th  the  respect  I  rese rved fo r  my  20 

o lde r  s ib l ings .    

 I  was in t roduced  to  th is  soc ia l  c i rc le  by  a  

f r iend who then worked as a  lega l  adv i so r  fo r  

a  c l ien t  o f  Webber  Wentze l  where  I  d id  my 

ar t i c les .  
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 Our  f r iendsh ip  grew and pers is ts  to  th is  day.   

Mapona er rs  in  h is  a f f idav i t  tha t  I  went  to  

un ivers i t y  w i th  any o f  the  f r iends in  the  soc ia l  

c i rc le .    

 I  submi t  tha t  the  suppor t  Mapoma gave to  

MNMR the  in te rsect ion  be tween  one o f  our  

soc ia l  c i r c les  and the  na ture  o f  my soc ia l  

in te rac t ion  w i th  h im fo rbade me f rom be ing  

rude to  h im o r  pu t t ing  h im –  or  pu t t ing  any  

pressure  on  h im.  10 

 Th is  wou ld  have resu l ted  in  back lash in  an  

impor tan t  f r iendsh ip  c i r c le  and wou ld  have  

adverse ly  a f fec ted  my s tand ing  as  an  a t to rney  

amongst  the  communi ty  o f  lawyers  in  tha t  

soc ia l  c i r c le .  

 I  care  about  my  reputa t ion  and  s tand ing  

amongst  my f r iends and peers .  

 Th i rd l y  I  had no mot ive  or  reason to  

p ressure  or  ca l l  Mapoma about  the  pace o r  

de ta i l s  o f  the  se t t lement  be tween Mr  Gama 20 

and Transnet .  

 Last ly  i f  I  had any quest ions wh ich  I  d id  no t  

I  wou ld  have ra ised these w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  –  

w i th  Mkwanaz i .   To  the  best  o f  reco l lec t ion  

Mapoma was a  few leve ls  down in  the  
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wh ich  meant  tha t  I  wou ld  no t  encounter  h im in  

the  normal  course  o f  my dut ies  as  spec ia l  

adv isor  to  the  Min is te r.  

 I  have never  sa id  Mapoma as he  a l leges  

Number  1  wanted to  ge t  i t  done  qu ick ly.   In  

the  South  A f r i can po l i t i ca l  lex icon the  te rm 

Number  1  i s  usua l l y  used to  re fer  to  a  s i t t ing  

Pres ident  o f  the  Repub l ic .  

 I  assume tha t  in  h is  a l legat ion  Mapoma 10 

ascr ibes the  same mean ing to  th is  te rm.   I f  

tha t  i s  so  Mapoma’s  a l legat ion  is  w i thout  

bas is .   In  my normal  use o f  language I  do  no t  

re fe r  to  a  s i t t ing  Pres ident  as  Number  1 .   In  

par t i cu la r  I  have not  re fe r red  to  fo rmer  

Pres ident  Zuma as Number  1 .  

 In  my ord inary  use o f  language –  or  I  have  

not  re fe r red  to  fo rmer  Pres ident  Zuma as  

Number  1  in  my o rd inary  use o f  language. ”  

 Pardon me fo r  the  typo.  20 

“What  comes natura l l y  to  me in  my  

conversa t ions is  to  re fe r  to  Pres ident  Zuma 

us ing  h is  in i t ia ls ,  surname o r  tu rn  names.    

For  avo idance o f  doubt  I  w ish  to  

s ta te  tha t  I  have never  used fo rmer  
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P res ident  Zuma’s  name as a l leged by  

Mapoma.   I  have never  met  o r  had  

conversa t ions o f  any substance w i th  

Pres ident  Zuma o ther  than in  la rge  

government  ga ther ings.  

He has never  ins t ruc ted  or  requested 

me to  pu t  p ressure  on  anyone to  f ina l i se  the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.  

Fur thermore  my  ers twh i le  p r inc ip le  

has never  ins t ruc ted  me to  pu t  p ressure  o f  10 

fo l low up w i th  anyone regard ing  the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.  

A t  no  po in t  d id  the  Min is te r  adv i se  

me tha t  the  P res ident  w ished to  have Mr  

Gama re ins ta ted  exped i t ious ly  o r  tha t  the  

d ispute  w i th  h im be reso lved exped i t ious ly.  

A l l  I  reca l l  i s  tha t  a f te r  the  board  had  

dec ided to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama bu t  p r io r  to  

h im resuming h is  du t ies  a t  Transnet  the  

Min is te r  requested a  meet ing  w i th  h im.   I  20 

was not  par t  o f  th is  meet ing . "  

Thank you Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH:   A l r igh t .   Cou ld  we then p lease go to  your  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t?   Your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  we 

see was s igned  th ree  days a f te r  your  in i t ia l  a f f idav i t ,  
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cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And in  your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  you  

e f fec t i ve l y  repea t  the  f i rs t  four  parag raphs o f  your  f i rs t  

a f f idav i t .   We need not  go  th rough tha t .   Perhaps I  can ask  

you p lease to  p ick  up  a t  paragraph 5  and dea l  w i th  the  –  

the  next  one and th i rd  o r  one a  ha l f  pages.  

MR MAHLANGU:   Thank you.    

“A f te r  I  submi t ted  the  a f f idav i t  to  the  

commiss ion  I  d iscovered two ema i ls  in  my 10 

persona l  emai l .   One dated 18 January  2011  

Annexure  SMA1 here to  and the  o ther  4  

February  2011 Annexure  SMA2 wh ich  a re  

re levant  to  what  I  was requ i red  to  answer  i n  

my main  a f f idav i t .  

These emai l s  re fe r  a lbe i t  b r ie f l y  to  

the  se t t lement  negot ia t ions  be tween Mr  

Gama and Transnet .   I  came upon the  two  

emai ls  in  my persona l  emai l  box in  the  

course  o f  my p repara t ion  o f  a  separa te  20 

a f f idav i t  tha t  I  have been inv i t ed  by  the  

commiss ion  to  submi t  and wh ich  re la tes  to  

my employment  a t  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises  in  my ro le  in  the  events  

ident i f ied  by  the  commiss ion .  
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The i r  omiss ion  in  my a f f idav i t  o f  25  

August  2020 was  not  de l ibera te .   The two  

emai ls  a re  f rom me to then Min is te r  o f  

Pub l ic  Enterpr i ses Mr  Malus i  G igaba.   I  d id  

no t  remember  the  communica t ion  to  Min i s te r  

G igaba as  recorded in  –  I  d id  no t  remember  

the  communica t ion  to  Min is te r  G igaba as  

record  in  the  emai l .   I  s t i l l  do  no t  have an  

independent  reco l lec t ion  o f  i t .    

A l though is  Annexure  SMA1 I  10 

promised the  Min is te r  tha t  I  wou ld  ob ta in  

the  se t t lement  agreement  fo r  h im and to  

b r ie f  h im on i t .   I  d id  no t  do  so  and in  fac t  

saw the  se t t lement  agreement  fo r  the  f i rs t  

t ime when i t  was prov ided to  me by the  

commiss ion .  

In  SMA1 I  a lso  adv i sed the  Min is te r  

to  b r ie f  the  Pres ident  about  Transnet ’s  

in tended se t t lement  w i th  Mr  Gama.   I  do  no t  

remember  the  reasons why I  adv ised the  20 

Min is te r  to  do  so  bu t  in  h inds igh t  I  th ink  tha t  

i t  was probab ly  because o f  the  pub l i c  

in te res t  tha t  the  mat te r  had invoked a t  the  

t ime. ”  

I  th ink  the  word  was supposed to  be  evoked.  
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“ I  can  th ink  o f  no  reason I  have no  

knowledge whether  Min is te r  G igaba  

d iscussed the  mat te r  w i th  the  Pres ident  –  

w i th  Pres ident  Zuma.  

In  SMA2 I  se t  ou t  my adv ice  to  the  

Min is te r  on  mat te rs  tha t  Mr  Maf ika  

Mkwanaz i  the  then Cha i rperson o f  Transnet  

w ished to  convey  to  h im th rough me.   I  do  

no t  reca l l  me and Mr  Mkwanaz i  d iscuss ing  

the  te rms o f  the  se t t lement  w i th  Gama in  10 

any de ta i l  and in  fac t  have no independent  

reco l lec t ion  o f  the  d iscuss ions w i th  h im tha t  

p receded my ema i l  to  the  Min i s te r.  

In  my main  a f f idav i t  I  s ta te  tha t  in  

January  2011 I  wou ld  no t  have been  

invo lved w i th  the  se t t lement  d iscuss ions  

because a t  the  t ime I  was newly  employed  

as  the  Min i s te r  spec ia l  adv iso r.  

SMA1 as SMA2 show tha t  I  had had 

no dea l ings o r  d iscuss ions w i th  Mr  20 

Mkwanaz i  a round the  18  –  around 18  

January  2011 about  two weeks  a f te r  the  

Chr is tmas break  and around 4  February  

2020.  

These emai ls  a re  the  on ly  reminder  
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to  me tha t  I  had d iscuss ions  w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  and  the  Min is te r  separa te l y  

be fore  the  se t t lement  was conc luded.  

I  had no reco l lec t ion  o f  any o ther  

d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  o r  the  

Min is te r.   I  re i te ra te  tha t  I  was new in  m y  

job  and cou ld  no t  have been invo lved in  the  

se t t lement  d iscuss ions in  any substant ive  

way.   Any d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  on  

the  d ispute  be tween Mr  Gama and Transnet  10 

was in tended fo r  me to  convey to  the  

Min is te r  Transnet ’s  pos i t ion  on  the  mat te r.  

Shou ld  I  come across any 

documenta t ion  or  cor respondence  tha t  may  

be o f  ass i s tance  to  the  commiss ion  I  w i l l  

submi t  i t  a t  the  ear l ies t  oppor tun i t y. ”  

ADV MAROLEN:   I  beg your  pa rdon Cha i r  I  am so sor ry  fo r  

in te r rup t ing .   I  see  the  da te  4  February  2020.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Sor ry.  

ADV MAROLEN:   I  see  the  da te  4  February  2020 tha t  i s  20 

parag raph 9  o f  Mr  Mah langu ’s  a f f idav i t .   I  –  I  –  cou ld  you… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh ja  tha t  must  be  2011.  

ADV MAROLEN:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV MAROLEN:   2012.  



23 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 290 
 

Page 22 of 134 
 

MR MAHLANGU:   2011  

CHAIRPERSON:   2011 ja .  

ADV MAROLEN:   Thank you Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH:   And then Mr  Mah langu do you want  to  

dea l  a t  a l l  w i th  these two annexures?  I f  you  go to  page  

178 Annexure  SMA1.   The on ly  par t  o f  tha t  annexure  o r  

emai l  tha t  dea ls  w i th  Mr  Gama is  the  second bu l le t  po in t .   

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And i t  reads:  10 

“ I  unders tand tha t  Transnet  may  be 

near ing  a  se t t lement  w i th  Mr  Gama.   I  w i l l  

ob ta in  the  de ta i l s  o f  the  se t t lement  and 

br ie f  you accord ing ly.   I  suggest  tha t  you  

soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and h i s  key a ides 

[ fo rmal  and in fo rmal ]  on  the  proposed 

se t t lement .   I t  i s  in tended tha t  the  

fo r thcoming board  shou ld  cons ider  and  

author ise  i t . ”  

 I s  tha t  cor rec t?  20 

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH:   And then Annexure  SMA2 –  f i rs t  

Annexure  –  there  was an emai l  sent  on  the  18  January.   

The second  one SMA2 is  an  emai l  sent  on  the  4  February.   

Now I  wou ld  jus t  ask  you to  conf i rm.   Th is  –  th is  emai l  i s  
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length ie r  document  cer ta in ly  in  re la t ion  to  Mr  Gama but  i t  

dea ls  w i th  two th ings.   That  i s  the  se t t lement  w i th  Mr  Gama 

and a lso  the  issue tha t  a rose about  Mr  Gama want ing  to  

app ly  for the then vacant  posi t ion of  Group Chief  Execut ive 

of  Transnet .   Is that  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .   I  considered the two 

matters intertwined and inter l inked.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   And you,  as you say,  you 

considered them intertwined.   You deal  wi th them on that  

basis in the emai l  and you presented the minister wi th the,  10 

what you considered to be var ious opt ions.   Is that  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You wish to highl ight  any part icular 

aspect  of  the advice that  you gave the minister? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  would love to,  Mr Myburgh.   Should I  just  

read i t  into the record? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   You can,  i f  you wish.   

Otherwise,  you could just  summarise what you considered to  

be important .  

MR MHLANGU :    I  th ink the. . .  Chai rperson,  wi th your leave.   20 

I  would l ike to read i t  a l l  into the record because i t  d iscloses 

my state of  mind and what I  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is f ine.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . . though of  at  the t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You can read i t .  
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MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

“Dear Min ister.    

CHAIRPERSON :    You are start ing wi th the one of  

18t h January? 

MR MHLANGU :    No,  the 4 t h.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  the 4 t h.    

MR MHLANGU :    The f i rst  one.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  cont inue.  10 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

“Dear Minister.   At  my meet ing wi th chai r,  he 

acknowledged that  by advert is ing the GCE posi t ion 

was a mistake.    

In l ight  of  Gama’s response to the advert ,  the board 

seeks guidance on the way forward.  

Despi te the ongoing wi thout  prejudice discussions,  

G insist  on staying on the l ist .    

He was informed through his lawyer of  an offer to  

re instate him wi th no loss of  benef i ts and a 20 

contr ibut ion towards his legal  costs.  

I t  is my recommendat ion that  the issue regarding his  

discipl ine and the appointment of  the DEC be deal t  

wi th separate ly.    

His chal lenge to his dismissal  should not  belay the 
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appointment of  the new GCE.  

In l ight  of  the current  impasse on the case regarding 

his dismissal ,  the board should go ahead and deal  

wi th the appointment of  the GCE.  

The fol lowing opt ions seems to present  themselves.  

1.  The board should not  interview G but  proceed to 

make a recommendat ion on the avai lable 

candidates.   The board may base i ts v iew on the 

qual i ty of  service that  i t  received.    

G may chal lenge the appointment of  the new GCE 10 

as f lawed, arguing that  he is ent i t led to be heard 

by the commit tee because he was previously 

short l isted.  

I  am persuaded that  the aforegoing argument is not  

l ike to sway a court  to come to G’s aid but  i t  is l ikely  

to require pol i t ical  management.  

2.  The board should interview him and not  short l ist  

h im for considerat ion by the minister.  

The r isk highl ighted in one above,  equal ly apply.    

3.  The board should interv iew him and short l ist  h im 20 

for  considerat ion by the minister.   The ministe r  

may proceed and appoint  his choice.   I t  is st i l l  

l ikely  that  G wi l l  chal lenge the process and al lege 

that  the appointed candidate was a . . . [ ind ist inct ]   

This may at t ract  unnecessary at tent ion to  the 
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minister.   The minister should avoid being a 

bearer of  bad news.   

In my view, there is a need to contain the drama 

at  Transnet  level .   In ei ther scenario,  i t  is l ikely  

that  G wi l l  sue.   He has no r ight  to be appointed 

GCE and therefore any l ikel ihood of  an urgent  

interdict  succeeding,  is very minimal.  

I  further recommend that  G should not  be 

interviewed or short l isted and that  way the 

minister does not  have to deal  wi th him. 10 

A Transnet act  in th is regard wi l l  const i tute a val id  

act  in law upon which the minister may base his  

act ion.  

I f  he wish to interdict  the minister,  he wi l l  have to  

show that  the minister  wi l l  inf r inge one of  h is  

legal ly recognised r ights.  

In order to succeed in that  argument,  he wi l l  have 

to show that  he has prospects of  success in  

overturn ing the recommendat ion to the minister.  

In l ight  of  the fact  and ci rcumstances surrounding 20 

G’s case,  i t  is not  l ikely that  a cour t  wi l l  approve 

such a proposi t ion.  

Further,  there is a great  l ikel ihood that  the leaks 

of  the case between him and Transnet emanate 

f rom his side.  
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I f  such speculat ion holds,  his interv iews and short  

l ist ing wi l l  ar ise publ ic i ty that  is unnecessary and 

may resul t  in unintended pol i t ical  status.  

The matters surrounding his  d ismissal  may be 

deal t  wi th by the GCE and the board going 

forward.   I t  seems unavoidable that  he may sue 

but  i t  is a loss hood I  th ink we should be prepared 

for and we should defend.    

I  awai t  your guidance.”  

 Thank you,  Mr Myburgh.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Mr Mhlango.  Perhaps i t  

completes your two aff idavi ts.   Perhaps I  could ask. . .  start  

my quest ion ing by deal ing wi th the need for the 

supplementary aff idavi t  that  arose.    

 You conf i rmed that  you were asked to give a ful l  account  

of  what you know about how the set t lement agreement came 

about,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And we know that  that  request  was 

separate f rom the request  for you to deal  wi th Mr Mapoma’s 20 

al legat ions.    

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  you look at  your  f i rst  a ff idavi t .   I f  I  

could invi te you p leas to go to page 169? 

MR MHLANGU :    Page? 
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    One, six,  n ine.  

MR MHLANGU :    One, six. . .?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    One, six,  n ine.  

MR MHLANGU :    Yes,  s i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  you turn to  page 170.   Now what we 

know is that  you deal  wi th Mr Mapoma from page 172 

onwards.   I  just  want to point  out  to you that  in your f i rst  

aff idavi t ,  the only th ing that  you say that  you knew about 

potent ia l  set t lement is your  in i t ia l  d iscussion wi th  

Mr Mkwanazi ,  correct? 10 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  mean, as for the rest  of  your aff idavi t  

i t  just  says that  you were placed under no pressure.   You do 

not  know of  the involvement of  anyone else.   So your  

knowledge in th is  aff idavi t  is l imi ted to the in i t ia l  d iscussion 

wi th Mr Mkwanazi ,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Your recol lect ion of  that  discussion,  

though, appears qui te deta i led.   I f  we go to the text  of  

paragraph 6,  you say that  you were informed by Mr Mkwanazi  20 

that  the company intended to reinstate Mr Gama.  You 

remember that? 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes,  s i r.   I  remember the text .   L ike I  said,  I  

am dependent on the text .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   And then what you do is ,  you go 
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on to explain what  happened af ter he to ld you that .   You say:  

“ I  cannot recal l  the exact  reason or the context  of  

my discussion. . . ”  

 And you go on to say:  

“ I  recal l  that  dur ing my discussion. . .  

 Presumable,  that  is your discussion referred to  in  

paragraph 6,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mhlango? 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes,  I  am trying to  fo l low paragraph 6.   Yes,  10 

si r?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“ I  recal l  that  dur ing my conversat ion wi th  

Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  advised that  i t  was prudent for  

Transnet to seek legal  advice. ”  

 And you discussed a few opt ions of  eminent  labour 

lawyers,  the proposal  of  Mr Gule came up.   So you remember 

that  in i t ia l  d iscussion and the advice that  you gave about  Mr 

Gule? 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes,  s i r.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what you fai l  to ment ion in your  

f i rst  aff idavi t .   You do not  ment ion that  you had other  

discussions wi th Mr Mkwanazi  about  Mr Gama, correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  fa i led,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Now what do you ment ion that  
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based on those other discussions,  you then interacted wi th  

and advised the minister about  the Gama issue.   You did not  

ment ion that  ei ther.  

MR MHLANGU :    That . . .  at  the t ime when I  draf ted the 

aff idavi t  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . . that  I  do not  recal l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  but  your answer to my quest ion 

is,  you accept  that  you did not  ment ion i t .   You l imi ted your  

knowledge to paragraphs 6 and 7.  10 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can you accept  that  in re lat ion to the 

f i rst  and in i t ia l  d iscussion,  you have a relat ively detai led 

recal l  of  i t?  

MR MHLANGU :    Mr Myburgh,  I  th ink what needs to be clear.   

I  do not  know i f  i t  was one discussion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    I t  was a long t ime ago.   But  there are 

features that  I  recal l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see.  20 

MR MHLANGU :    So I  would not  us to,  to st ick to a meet ing.   

I t  could have been one,  two or three.   I  spoke to 

Mr Mkwanazi  of ten.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.  

MR MHLANGU :    But  that . . .  what  I  ment ioned about that  
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d iscussion is what I  could recal l  as I  was answering this  

art ic le.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    When you read your aff idavi t ,  you wi l l  

see that  you are referr ing to one discussion.    

MR MHLANGU :    Yes,  i t  is  probably. . .  yes,  I  probably 

referred to one discussion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    But  as I  said to you,  I  recal l . . .  as I  actual ly  

preface in my aff idavi t  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  10 

MR MHLANGU :    . . . that  some of  these things,  I  want  to. . .  the 

sequence may be a bi t  t r icky.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    But  I  recal l  the essence Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  understand that .   You recal l  the 

essence,  i t  seems,  of  your  in i t ia l  d iscussion wi th  

Mr Mkwanazi .  

MR MHLANGU :    Of  the discussions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   So let  us go back to the fact  that  

you also do not  ment ion then in the f i rst  aff idavi t  that  based 20 

on those discussion wi th Mr Mkwanazi ,  you then in teracted 

wi th the minister  and advised the minister  in re lat ion to them.   

You did not  ment ion that .  

MR MHLANGU :    I  d id not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then what we see in your  
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supplementary aff idavi t  is that  you put  up two emai ls which 

show that  you had further interact ion wi th Mr Mkwanazi  and 

that  you advised the minister accordingly.    

 But  what is important  is that  in  your supplementary 

aff idavi t ,  you seem to state that  you have no independent  

recol lect ion of  the events in those emai ls,  a l l  of  the emai ls.   

Is that  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .   Insofar as you look there,  

the two aff idavi ts together Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  us go to. . .  so just  let  me, so that  10 

everyone is c lear.   When the si tuat ion l ike this ar ises,  I  

suppose there is one of  two th ings that  a person can do.    

 The one is you can say:   I  have come across these 

emai ls.   I  d id not  at tached them to my f i rst  aff idavi t .   I  am 

sorry.   They have now t r iggered my memory.   They have 

ref reshed my memory and now I  remembered what happened 

and this is what happened.   

 Or  you could adopt the posi t ion,  which you seemed to,  

and that  is:   Wel l ,  I  came across these emai ls.   I  do not  have 

any independent recol lect ion of  these emai ls or of  the events 20 

that  are deal t  wi th  them in them.   

 But  I  accept  that  they are my emai ls and I  accept  that  i f  

that  is what is recorded I  must  have had the d iscussion.   Is  

that  r ight? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is. . .  the second opt ion is what I . . .  that  
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is my si tuat ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  but  you conf i rm that . . .  so,  your 

evidence - because th is is important  – your evidence now 

before the Commission is:   Yes,  here are the two emai ls.   But  

I  have no independent recol lect ion of  wri t ing those emai ls of  

sending those emai ls or of  the content  of  the emai ls.  

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct ,  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   And perhaps I  can just  show 

you where you say that  because . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You are sure that  is the posi t ion 10 

Mr Mhlangu? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   And when I  

d iscovered the emai ls,  I  immediately contacted the 

Commission and I  a lso contacted my senior counsel  to say. . .  

because I  was preparing for a d i fferent  aff idavi t  and then I  

came across this.   And I  do not  know i f  that  is al l  of  that  but  

that  is what. . .  th is  is  as far as I  can recal l .   I  would not  have 

omit ted them had I  seen them in the f i rst  emai l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR MHLANGU :    And the memory they jog is consistent  wi th  20 

what I  have said in the main aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Wel l ,  we wi l l  come to the 

signi f icance of  that  in a moment.   So I  need not  take you to  

the var ious passages where you say that  you accept  that  
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your version is:   I  have no independent recol lect ion of  wri t ing 

the emai l ,  sending the emai l  or of  the contents of  the emai l .  

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   And then,  I  suppose what you 

must  accept ,  i f  we go to page 171,  paragraph 11 is  where 

you say in the thi rd l ine:  

“By this t ime.. .  

 And now you are ta lk ing about the t ime of  the 

set t lement.  

“ . . . I  was st i l l  fami l iar is ing mysel f  wi th my new work 10 

environment.   I  had not  met Mr Gama or engaged 

with issue pertaining to his employment or  

dismissal . ”  

 Wel l ,  you must  accept  then,  albei t  i t  that  you have no 

independent recol lect ion,  but  on the face of  the two emai ls  

that  you have put  up,  that  statement is fa lse,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    In fact ,  what the emai l  shows, albei t  

that  you have no independent recol lect ion is,  that  you have 

had a ser ies of  discussions wi th Mr Mkwanazi .   You had 20 

reported on those discussions to your boss.   And in fact ,  you 

had given your boss advice in relat ion to them.  Is that  

correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And in fact ,  you had. . .  you say you 
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remember none of  th is.   But  in  relat ion to the Gama 

set t lement,  you had actual ly advised Minister Gigaba that  he 

should social ise the president ,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    Not  on the detai ls  but  on the. . .  on chance 

that  is proposed cause of  act ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   So just  so that  I  understand.   Are 

you now remember ing this  or are you just  saying what you 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    Based on the document.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   You told the president  – and we 10 

are going to come to the detai l  – but  you advised the 

minister.   You said. . .  your advice was:   I  suggest  you 

social ise the president .   Correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You have no recol lect ion of  that? 

MR MHLANGU :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then what you did just  now 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Maybe.. .   I  am sorry,  Mr Myburgh.   Before 

we get  further.   What d id i t  mean to say the minister should 20 

social ise the president .  

MR MHLANGU :    To make him . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  have got  an idea but  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    To make him. . .   To make him aware 

. . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    . . . I  want  to hear i t  f rom you.  

MR MHLANGU :    To make him aware of  what Transnet i s  

about  to do.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is reinstate Mr Gama? 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We are going to come back to the 

advice that  you gave but  I  am just  test ing this.   You have no 

independent recol lect ion.    

 And then in rela t ion,  as you say,  the second emai l  10 

ref lects there were two th ings.   There was the Gama 

set t lement and there was the issue of  him of  want ing to be a 

candidate for a promot ion.    

 And you then advised the minister and you have read 

that  emai l  in some detai l  about  the var ious opt ions,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you have no independent  

recol lect ion of  that? 

MR MHLANGU :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  you have a recol lect ion 20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    I  have got  some tr iggers.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  that  is what you say in your  

aff idavi t .  

MR MHLANGU :    No,  when I . . .  I  th ink you are interpret ing i t  
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very narrowly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    To the extent  that  is there in that  th ing,  I  

remember.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  fa i r  enough.  

MR MHLANGU :    That  is what I  am saying.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.  

MR MHLANGU :    But  I  do not  have other th ings that . . .  I  have 

been thinking long and hard about i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  10 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.   I  have been t ry ing to remember i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  Mr Mhlangu, I  am just  going to put  

to you what you have now agreed to twice before.   You have 

no independent recol lect ion of  wri t ing the emai l  or  sending 

the emai l  or of  the contents of  i t  but  you accept  that  i f  that  is 

what you wrote,  wel l  then i t  happened.  

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  is essent ia l ly what you say.  

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  you have no independent 20 

recol lect ion of  any of  that  happening.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  th ink that  appears too strong.   I  th ink,  

when I  say I  have no independent,  I  am saying,  I  do not  have 

command of  the ful l  facts.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  in your aff idavi t ,  you say you 
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have no independent recol lect ion.  

MR MHLANGU :    Mister. . .  there is no inconsistency wi th  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Fai r  enough.  But  you 

somehow have a very clear recol lect ion of  your f i rst  

d iscussion wi th Mr Mkwanazi ,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    L ike I  said.   I  do not  know i f  i t  is the f i rst  

Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.  

MR MHLANGU :    There was a d iscussion where he told me 10 

something and I  said:   Go and get  legal  advice.   There is a  

discussion l ike that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes and we are going to come to that  

because we know that  that  must  have been at  the outset .   So 

in fa i rness to you,  we wi l l  come to the date l ine and t imel ine.   

So that  is  your. . .  but  what you do have a very clear 

recol lect ion about i t ,  i f  I  understand,  is that  you did not  

phone Mr Mapoma.   

MR MHLANGU :    I  th ink I  need to get  to that  before 

discussing Mapoma,  my recol lect ion here is.   I  do not  recal l  20 

making a phone cal l ,  a physica l  phone cal l ,  r ight?  I  knew 

Mr Mapoma and he knew me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    Right .   So what  I  deny is that  I  made a 

phone cal l  to pressure Mr Mapoma.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you somehow have a very clear  

recol lect ion of  that? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  have a very clear recol lect ion because 

that  is something. . .  i t  is a l i fe event .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    Because  Mr Mapoma . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . .he was very important  to me at  the t ime 

in my ci rc le,  in my being.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  10 

MR MHLANGU :    So i f  I  have any tension wi th him,  I  would 

remember i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   And I  presume that  when you 

were carrying out  your dut ies as a special  advisor to  

Mr Gigaba, you would also remember them. 

MR MHLANGU :    I  am talk ing about . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Is that  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    Not  al l  of  them.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see.   And these ones,  you simply 

cannot remember? 20 

MR MHLANGU :    Mr Mapoma – i t  is  a speci f ic instance.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    L ike I  am saying.   Unt i l  to th is day 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  
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MR MHLANGU :    . . . I  bat t le to understand why Mr Mapoma 

would say that  about  me.  And l ike is say to you,  I  had no,  no 

mot ive . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    No intent ion.   And that  they. . .  I  could not  

have picked up the cal l  for the intent ion of  pressuring 

Mr Mapoma.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mhlangu, you,  I  th ink 

misunderstand what I  am dr iv ing at .   We are going to come 

to your version about Mr Mapoma but  essent ia l ly what you 10 

have said is you have a very clear  recol lect ion of  not  having 

cal led him.  Is that  r ight?  And pressur ised him.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  recal l  that  I  d id not  pressur ise him 

. . . [ indist inct ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Just  so that  you understand.   To this  

very day,  Mr Mapoma a lso cannot understand why you deny 

having had that  discussion wi th him. 

MR MHLANGU :    I  am te l l ing you that  i t  would not  have 

happened. 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Wel l ,  we wi l l  come 20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    I t  is improbable.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  I  am going to suggest  to you that  

i t  is highly probable but  in order to get  to that ,  we need to 

look at  the chronology.   So let  us start  o ff  then wi th the 
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d ismissal  of  Barbara Hogan of  the Minister o f  Publ ic  

Enterpr ises.   Now as I  understand i t .   You have the doctorate 

in Pol i t ical  Science.   Is that  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is incorrect .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What doctorate do you have? 

MR MHLANGU :    Administ rat ive Law.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Okay.   And as I  understand i t ,  you are 

someone who fol lows pol i t ics and in fact ,  decided that  you 

wanted to pursue a career for a point  in t ime in that  f ie ld.   Is  

that  r ight? 10 

MR MHLANGU :    Vaguely,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sorry? 

MR MHLANGU :    Vaguely,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Now let  me just  summarise for  

you the evidence of  Ms Hogan.  She says that  at  the t ime 

that  Mr Gama was fac ing discipl inary act ion in 2009,  and we 

know that  he was suspended on the 1s t  of  September 2009,  

she approached former President  Zuma to conf i rm the board 

nominat ion of  a  Mr Maseka as the new Transnet Chief  

Execut ive.   You have heard of  th is test imony,  presumable.  20 

MR MHLANGU :    No,  I  was not  fo l lowing.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   And he wanted Mr Gama to be 

appointed and he refused to make any board appointments,  

pending the outcome of  Mr Gama’s discipl inary inqui ry.   You 

have not  heard of  that  ei ther? 
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MR MHLANGU :    I  have no knowledge of  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  I  mean . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    A l l  I  know is,  is  that  the posi t ion of  GCE 

became vacant  when Ms Maria Ramos lef t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.    

MR MHLANGU :    Up unt i l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And what we do know – and I  am 

surpr ised you say you do not  know anything about th is  

because what we do know, roundabout  th is  t ime there was 

much pol i t ical  support  for Mr Gama that  was played out  in  10 

the press.   Do you not  remember that? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  I  do remember.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  do not  remember the detai l  of  Ms Hogan’s 

test imony.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Good.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  do not  remember how she deal t  wi th i t .   

What I  recal l  is that  there was a lot  of  drama . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . .surrounding Mr Gama.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And there was a lot  of  pol i t ical  support  

for him.  I  can take you to the port ions in the record i f  

necessary.   But  there were certain  pol i t ic ians that  came out  

in his favour.   There were t rade unions that  came out  in his  

favour.   I  mean, Mr Malema also came out  in h is favour.  
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MR MHLANGU :    I  accept  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Then af ter Mr Gama was 

dismissed at  the end of  June of  2010,  i t  is a year or so later,  

Ms Hogan then approached former President  Zuma about the 

appointment of  a  new board and she made that  approach,  

according to her evidence,  in  August /September.    

 Only to then be re l ieved of  her posi t ion wi th the fact  

f rom the 31s t  of  October 2010.  You would have,  no doubt,  

fo l lowed that  in the media.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  fo l lowed the race but  I  d id not  fo l low,  10 

speci f ical ly,  Ms Hogan.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  but  your boss then ended up 

replacing her the next  day.  

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.   But  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  i t  is  not  something that  you were 

not  aware of .  

MR MHLANGU :    He was not  my boss at  the t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    Remember that  t ime, I  was pract ic ing law.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .    20 

MR MHLANGU :    So I  d id  not  fo l low speci f ical ly what was 

happening at  Publ ic Enterpr ises.   I  would fol low the news 

l ike everybody else.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.    

ADV MAROLEN :    I  beg your pardon and I  am sorry to. . .  
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Mr Myburgh for interrupt ing.   But  I  th ink Mr Mahlangu has 

said,  he has not  seen the evidence of  Ms Hogan and I  do not  

know i f  the . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  you have lowered your voice.   I  

cannot hear you.  

ADV MAROLEN :    I  beg your  pardon,  Chai r.   Chai r,  

Mr Mahlangu has repeatedly said that  he has not  seen the 

evidence of  Ms Hogan.  And quest ions are being put  to him 

f rom that  evidence.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  but  he was being asked whether he 10 

became aware of  that  f rom the media,  I  th ink.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.   Mister . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink he said he . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .he was aware but  not  of  detai ls because 

he was not  in the Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises at  the 

t ime.  Is that  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what we know is that  Mr Hogan 

was rel ieved of  her posi t ion on the 31s t  of  October 2010.   20 

You might  have read i t  about  that  in  the press.   I  am not  

t ry ing to pin you to the date.   But  you recal l  having read 

about that? 

MR MHLANGU :    I t  was not  just  Ms Hogan.  There was a 

whole shopping l ist  of  . . . [ intervenes]   
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Absolutely.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . .of  reshuff le.   So I  would not  have 

speci f ical ly known what reasons and what is not  but  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What we know is that  Mr Gigaba was 

then appointed as the new minis ter wi th effect  f rom the 

1s t  of  November 2010.   

MR MHLANGU :    Correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So he replaced Ms Hogan.   

MR MHLANGU :    Correct .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And a new board was then appointed 

by him and that  board took up i ts dut ies in December of  

2010.  

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .   That  was the same t ime as 

I  arr ived.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.   And then we know that  Mr Gama 

was reinstated towards the end of  February a few months 

later.  

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And we know that  a  few years later,  he 20 

was then ul t imate ly promoted to the posi t ion of  Group Chief  

Execut ive of  Transnet.  

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now do I  understand you to be saying 

that . . .  or what par t  of  th is cont roversy,  some of  i t  was played 
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out  in the press,  were you aware of  you before you took up 

your posi t ion as Special  Advisor on the 1s t  of  December? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  cannot recal l  speci f ics but  I  know that  

there was someth ing about Gama being in the news.  What I  

can help you wi th is,  why did I  consider i t  a drama. 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Wel l ,  why did you consider i t  

a drama? 

MR MHLANGU :    At  that  t ime.. .  th is is the opinion I  held,  

which is I  why I  am te l l ing you that  i t  was improbable that  I  

would pressure anyone.  At  that  t ime when I  got  to have 10 

some conversat ions wi th the minister and Mr Mkwanazi .   

What I  remember is that  there was an insistence on Mr Gama 

to be appointed GCEO, r ight .    

 And that  any discipl inary proceedings against  him and 

the f ind ing and al l  of  that ,  were in some way orchest rated to  

stop i t  f rom being so.   And so for  me, Transnet is a  very big 

organisat ion and an important  one for th is country.    

 And you would not  want to have a person. . .  because 

invar iable in my v iew,  i t  may have been wrong,  but  my view 

was that ,  i f  there is that ,  then there is probably div is ions 20 

Chair  wi thin Transnet .    

 And that  also,  i f  there is a f inding by an independent  

commit tee.   So a l l  of  those things,  i t  was a combinat ion of  

complexed pol i t ical  issues and legal  issues.    

 And therefore,  in  my view, the minister had to t read 
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careful ly around that .   And based on SMA2, I  bel ieved that  I  

probably would have said as much to him.   

 And I  real ly do bel ieve,  remember that  I  was a bi t  

caut ious around the issues relat ing to Mr Gama because of  

that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    H’m. 

MR MHLANGU :    And I  may not ,  at  the t ime, have had ful l  

detai ls and so on but  I  remember that  i t  was a pol i t ical ly 

charged matter.   I t  was a legal ly complex matter.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Pol i t ica l ly charged and legal ly 10 

complex.   No doubt of  that  then,  an important  th ing on the 

minister ’s radar,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  do not  know i f  i t  was the only th ing and I  

do not  know i f  i t  was . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  never said i t  was the only th ing.   I  

said,  no doubt an important  th ing on the minister ’s radar.  

MR MHLANGU :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see.   Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .you have sent  him emai ls  20 

Mr Mhlangu that  deals wi th th is.   One of  your  emai ls is one 

and a hal f  pages where you l ist  us in four,  f ive di fferent  

opt ions.   I  mean, i t  was a signi f icant  event .    

MR MHLANGU :    Because . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  was something that  needed to be 
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deal t  wi th.  

MR MHLANGU :    No,  the drama, i t  should not  at t ract  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  there we go.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . .because i t  was not  h is place.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .  

MR MHLANGU :    I t  was not  his place because my v iew was,  

i f  he gets himsel f  in  i t ,  he wi l l  not  be able to get  himsel f  out  

of  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Wel l ,  let  us deal  wi th that .   So 10 

what we are actual ly deal ing wi th is what you knew before 

you took up your posi t ion.   So Mr Gigaba . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   Just  c lar i fy that  Mr Mhlangu 

what  you have exp la ined was tha t  someth ing  you knew 

before  you took up  your  pos i t ion  as  spec ia l  adv i se r  o r  was  

i t  someth ing  you knew a f te r  you had taken up your  

pos i t ion?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I t  was a f te r,  Cha i r,  I  had no spec i f i c  

in te res t  in  pub l i c  en terpr i ses  when I  was an a t to rney.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was you had taken the  pos i t ion? 20 

MR MAHLANGU:    I t  was a f te r,  Cha i r.   And,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  

the  t im ing  tha t  the  Commiss ion  needs to  be  aware  o f  i s  tha t  

I  a r r i ved on the  1  December.    

1  December  in  government  then th ings s low down 

and a t  tha t  t ime they were  o r ien ta t ing  the  m in i s te r  w i t h  
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some th ings.   There  were  a  lo t  o f  b r ie f ings  tha t  m in is ter  

was go ing  th rough.  

 January,  Cha i r,  what  happens  in  the  po l i t i ca l  

ca lendar,  i s  tha t  you have what  i s  ca l led  the  January  8  in  

the  ANC.   So the  po l i t i ca l  leaders  are  consumed by the  

ac t iv i t ies  lead ing  up to  the  January.  

 Then f rom the  January  8 ,  Cha i r,  you have the  

lekqot las .   You have the  ANC lekqot la  where  the  ANC 

Nat iona l  Execut ive  Commi t tee ,  member  o f  wh ich  my 

min is te r  was,  were  taken.    10 

Then you have the  cab ine t  lekqo t la .   You ac tua l l y  

have access to  the  m in i s te r  a f te r  the  S ta te  o f  the  Nat ion  

address wh ich  wou ld  take  you to  a round f i rs t  o r  second  

week o f  February.  

 I  am not  say ing  the  admin i s t ra t ion  is  a t  a  s tandst i l l  

bu t  I  am say ing  tha t  have tha t  in  m ind as  you assess what  I  

knew.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We a re  go ing  to  come to  tha t  ve ry  

chrono logy,  Mr  Mah langu.   So Min i s te r  G igaba i s  appo in ted  

w i th  e f fec t  f rom the  1  November.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  in  h is  20 

ev idence o f  a  meet ing  tha t  he  had w i th  the  m in i s te r,  he  

says tha t  meet ing  happened in  October  and a t  the  same 

t ime h is  ev idence was when he met  w i th  Mr  G igaba i t  was  

as  i f  he  was a l ready the  m in is te r.   So October /November.   

And I  want  to  jus t  take  you to  bund le  4A.   I  jus t  wan t  to  run  
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th rough w i th  you what  was then d iscussed between  

Min is te r  G igaba and Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Bund le  4A?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bund le  4A,  cou ld  I  ask  you to  tu rn  to  

page 4?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am on page 4 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  a t  pa ragraph 4 .3  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

says:  

“ In  my meet ing  w i th  the  m in i s te r  he  ind i ca ted  tha t  

he  was not  happy  about  a  few th ings. ”  10 

1 .  A lack  o f  Transne t  in fo rmat ion  as  there  were  very  

few sen io r  pos i t ions   he ld  by  A f r i can women.  

2 .  He was under  the  impress ion  tha t  the  

procu rement  sys tem o f  Transnet  was open to  

cor rup t ion  by  employees and o the r  s takeho lders .   

He emphas ised tha t  as  the  incoming Cha i r  o f  the  

board  th is  must  be  an  area o f  focus.  

3 .  He was somehow aware  o f  p rob lems in  the  

procu rement  o f  supp l ie rs  and se rv ices  fo r  mega  

pro jec ts  in  Transnet ”  20 

And then he l i s ts  a  lo t  o f  them.  

4 .  He was a lso  under  the  impress ion  tha t  

d isc ip l ina ry  mat te rs  a t  Transnet  were  rac ia l l y  

b iased and tha t  there  was a  condonat ion  process  

a t  Transnet  tha t  was genera l l y  used to  dea l  w i th  
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dev ia t ions w i th in  Transnet . ”  

Now Mr  Mkwanaz i  pu t  up  then –  I  th ink  you ment ioned th i s  

to  me before  we began,  you are  aware  o f  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  then put  up  a  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  and what  

he  says is  tha t  a t  th is  meet ing  Min i s te r  G igaba a lso  

requested …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you want  to  remind me where  the  

supp lementary  i s?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  cer ta in ly .   Cou ld  you –  perhaps  

I  cou ld  ask  you,  Mr  Mah langu,  to  tu rn  now  -  the  eas ies t  10 

way is  to  ask  you  to look  a t  the  th i rd  las t  tab ,  Cha i rperson  

in  bund le  4A.  

MR MAHLANGU:    EB20 or  someth ing?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    E19.  

MR MAHLANGU:    19 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then to  tu rn  backwards  to  page  

21.415.   So 414 is  the  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  and  I  want  

to  d i rec t  your  a t ten t ion  p lease to  paragraph 5 .   I  have 

ment ioned in  the  in i t ia l  a f f idav i t  in  parag raph 43,  tha t  i s  the  

meet ing  we a re  dea l ing  w i th ,  tha t :  20 

“ I  had a  meet ing  w i th  the  m in is te r  a t  wh ich  the  

m in is te r  h igh l igh ted  th ings tha t  he  was  not  happy  

w i th  a t  Transnet .   In  th is  meet ing  Min is te r  G igaba  

a lso  requested tha t  the  incoming  board  must  a lso  

rev iew the  fa i rness o f  the  d i smissa l  o f  Mr  Gama. ”  
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Do you see tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes,  I  can.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now you have to ld  the  Cha i rpe rson  

tha t  you were  appo in ted  as  spec ia l  adv i ser  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 

the  1  December  2010.  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Were  you then b r ie fed  by  the  

m in is te r?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Not  in  the  once-o f f  b r ie f ing  sess ions,  we  

in te rac ted  in  the  o f f i ce .   The min is te r  had ways to  ta lk  to  10 

us  e i ther  as  adv isers  or  as  the  en t i re  po l i t i ca l  o f f i ce  on  

issues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we l l  were  you in fo rmed by  the  

m in is te r  about  the  concerns tha t  he  had a t  Transnet?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Were  you to ld  by  the  m in is te r  o f  the 

d iscuss ion  tha t  he  had had w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Were  you to ld  by  the  m in i s te r  tha t  he  

had requested tha t  Transnet  shou ld  rev iew the  fa i rness o f  20 

the  d ismissa l  o f  Mr  Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  fac t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  says tha t  the  

Min is te r  i ssued what  was tan tamount  to  a  shareho lde r  

ins t ruc t ion ,  ins t ruc ted  h im to  rev iew the  d ismissa l  o f  Gama.  
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MR MAHLANGU:    I  was not  there  i n  20  –  in  October .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  I  am not  ask ing  you tha t ,  I  am 

ask ing  you d id  the  m in is te r  te l l  you  about  th is?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You wou ld  accept  tha t  the  m in is te r  

seemed to  have very  ser ious concerns about  Transnet .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am t ry ing  to  go  back in  t ime.   So I  do 

no t  know i f  I  learn t  o f  the  Gama issue f rom the  o f f i ce .   

What  I  know,  because –  what  I  know is  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

appr ised me o f  i t  fo r  the  purposes o f  in fo rm ing the  10 

min is te r .   I t  wou ld  there fore  be  on  the  bas is  o f  my repor t  to  

the  m in is te r  tha t  the  issue about  Mr  Gama wou ld  have been 

d iscussed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we a re  go ing  to  come to  tha t ,  

bu t  jus t  tha t  I  unders tand your  ev idence.   You say tha t  the  

m in is te r  d id  no t  b r ie f  you about  h is  concerns  about  

Transnet  and the  m in is te r  h imse l f  never  to ld  you tha t  he  

had i ssued an ins t ruc t ion  tha t  the  fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  

d ismissa l  shou ld  be  rev iewed.  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.   On the  –  no ,  on  the  i ssues w i th  20 

Transnet  the  depar tment  has a  un i t  respons ib le  fo r  

t ranspor t  en terpr ise  and I  reca l l  a t  the  t ime there  were  

issues tha t  were  ongo ing  but  there  were  no  spec i f i c  i ssues  

tha t  I  –  had sprang to  m ind as  –  I  know tha t  the  NMPP,  as  

now I  see i t  f rom Mr  Mkwanaz i ’ s  a f f idav i t… 
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    …the depar tmen t  was grapp l ing  w i th  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MAHLANGU:    Bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  spec i f i c  ins t ruc t ions  

to  me.   In  fac t ,  I  do  no t  –  the  m in is te r  never  ins t ruc ted  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  pe rhaps you can jus t  say  tha t  

and we l i ve  w i th  i t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Ja ,  the  m in is te r  never  ins t ruc ted me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  le t  us  move on then.  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  Mr  Mkwanaz i  te l l  you  tha t  the  10 

min is te r  had ins t ruc ted  the  board  to  rev iew the  fa i rness o f  

Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  the  d iscuss ions he  had w i th  you?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  Cha i r ,  no t  spec i f i ca l l y .   I  th ink  there  

I  am a  b i t  –  my memory  i s  no t  good.   But  remember  

Mkwanaz i  te l l s  me what  i s  happen ing  on the  issue.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    So we d id  no t  s ta r t  –  and I  a r r i ved on  

the  1 s t  o f  –  these d iscuss ions happened in  January ,  so  I  20 

suppose a  l o t  has happened between October  and  January  

because then when he te l l s  me th ings,  he  is  te l l ing  me 

th ings tha t  a re  happen ing  there  tha t  I  re layed to  the  

m in is te r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  he  cou ld  have sa id  to  you when he  
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s ta r ted  in te rac t ing  w i th  you in  your  capac i ty  as  spec ia l  

adv iser  to  the  m in is te r ,  you know,  we a re  busy w i th  

rev iewing the  fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  d i smissa l ,  I  had a  

meet ing  w i th  the  m in is te r  in  October  and he ins t ruc ted  the  

board  to  rev iew the  fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  d ismissa l ,  one   

wou ld  imag ine  tha t  he  m ight  no t  have jus t  s ta r ted  te l l ing 

you what  was happen ing  a t  the  t ime but  he  m ight  te l l  you  

the  background,  namely  i f  they  were  busy w i th  the i r  rev iew 

–  w i th  a  rev iew o f  the  fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  d ismissa l  and  

i f  tha t  rev iew had been ins t ruc ted  –  they had been  10 

ins t ruc ted  by  the  m in is te r  to  conduct  i t ,  one wou ld  expect  

tha t  tha t  i s  where  he  wou ld  have s tar t  when ta lk ing  to  you  

so  tha t  as  you –  as  he  cont inued to  in te rac t  w i th  you  

thereaf te r  you wou ld  have the  background and the  contex t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r ,  I  cannot  remember .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You cannot  remember .  

MR MAHLANGU:    No but  what  I  remember  i s  the  

d iscuss ion  spec i f i ca l l y ,  where  they emanated and what  the  

genes is  were ,  no .   I t  i s  poss ib le  –  i f  i t  i s ,  i t  i s  poss ib le  bu t  I  

do  no t  remember  an  ins t ruc t ion  because,  Cha i r ,  the  20 

government  works  in  a  pa r t i cu la r  way,  i f  there  an  

ins t ruc t ion  to  the  asset .   As  the  shareho lde r  then there  w i l l  

be  a  shareho lde r  memo to  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  board  

and tha t  wou ld  have been based on what  the  depar tment  

wou ld  have sor t  o f  ana lysed and adv ised the  m in is te r  to  do .   
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I  have not  seen tha t .   I f  i t  ex is ts  then I  am happy to  have a  

look a t  i t  bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  see ing  tha t  k ind  and  I  –  my  

d iscuss ions w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  my reco l lec t ion  o f  how i t  

s ta r ted  is  I  do  no t  have a  ve ry  c lea r  reco l lec t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you not  reca l l  h im hav ing  sa id  to  you,  

even i f  he  d id  no t  ta lk  about  the  m in is te r  hav ing  ins t ruc ted  

the  board ,  do  you not  reca l l  h im hav ing  sa id  to  you,  fo r  

example ,  you know,  the  board  is  busy rev iewing the  

fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  d ismissa l ,  even tha t  you do not  th ink  

he  sa id  tha t?  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  tha t  i s  t rue ,  tha t  he  wou ld  have sa id  

because o the rwise  there  wou ld  be  no contex t  to  the  br ie f .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR MAHLANGU:    So  what  I  am say ing  is  I  do  no t  reca l l  

how –  remember  the  board ,  acco rd ing  to  me,  a re  separa te  

f rom the  min i s te r  and i f  you are  br ie f ing  me tha t  th is  i s  

what  you are  do ing  then I  must  te l l  the  shareho lder  tha t  

tha t  i s  what  you are  busy w i th .   That  i s  how I  wou ld  have  

engaged w i th  th is ,  tha t  i s  why I  do  no t  reca l l  say ing  now I  

am g iv ing  you an update  based on the  ins t ruc t ion  I  was  20 

g iven by  the  m in i s te r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  is  the  ins t ruc t ion  by  the  m in i s te r  par t  

tha t  you do not  reca l l  bu t  tha t  the  board  was under tak ing  a  

rev iew o f  the  fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  d ismissa l ,  tha t  you  

reca l l .  
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MR MAHLANGU:    That  was the  –  yes,  tha t  was the  

essence o f  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  th ink  tha t  i s  what  we were  dea l ing  –  

the  reason why he was te l l ing  me tha t  tha t  i s  what  they  

were  busy w i th .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.    

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  I  am go ing  to  come to  tha t  in  10 

more  de ta i l .   So  you were  appo in ted  on the  1  December ,  

the  13  December  we know tha t  a  new board  commences i t s  

du t ies ,  you have accepted tha t  tha t  was a  board  appo in ted  

by  Min i s te r  G igaba.    

 Now another  impor tan t  event  in  th is  case i s  a  Pub l i c  

Pro tec tor  compla in t  tha t  was rece ived by  Transnet  on  the  

22  December .   D id  you ever  come to  learn  about  tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  learn t  o f  tha t  –  my memory  was jogged  

by  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’ s  ev idence,  I  th ink ,  about  –  I  do  no t  

remember  the  content  bu t  I  remember  there  was someth ing  20 

about  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec tor ’s  repor t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  jus t  pe rhaps before  we b reak fo r  

tea ,  you have ment ioned to  the  Cha i rperson tha t  th is  in i t ia l  

d iscuss ion  tha t  you had w i th  Mr  Mapoma where  you dea l  

w i th  Mr  Sbu Gule ,  tha t  wou ld  have  happened in  January ,  i s  
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tha t  r igh t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r i gh t .   And are  you ab le  t o  ass i s t  

us  w i th  when in  January  tha t  was?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  Cha i r ,  bu t  i t  shou ld  be  somewhere  

around the  v i c in i t y  o f  tha t  emai l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    When I  look  a t  the  emai l  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  emai l  came –  was  anothe r  

meet ing  tha t  you  had w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  bu t  le t  us  leave i t  10 

a t  tha t ,  Mr  Mah langu,  perhaps over  tea t ime you cou ld  

re f lec t  on  when you f i rs t  he ld  a  d iscuss ion  in  January  w i th  

Mr  Mkwanaz i .   Mr  Cha i rpe rson,  i f  th is  i s  an  appropr ia te  

t ime?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  we w i l l  take  the  tea  ad journment  

un t i l  ha l f  past  e leven.   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  con t inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.    20 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER :   Pa rdon,  Cha i r,  may I  be  

excused p lease a t  12  o ’c lock ,  Mr  Cha i r?   

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER :   Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Mah langu,  jus t  

be fore  we get  to  the  approx imate  da te  o f  your  f i rs t  

d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  can you remember  what  

caused you to  ge t  in  contac t  w i th  h im or  h im get  in  contac t  

w i th  you?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Perhaps,  Cha i r,  be fore  I  answer  th is  

quest ion ,  I  need to  jus t  pu t  th is  fo rward .   The events  tha t  

you are  se i zed w i th  now happened around n ine  years  ago.   

So when I  p repared the  two a f f idav i t s  i t  was on the  bas is  o f  

what  I  remembered then and f rom the  day I  rece ived 10 

Mapoma’s  a f f idav i t  and the  le t te r  f rom the  Commiss ion  I  

have been th ink ing  about  these mat te rs .   Some th ings do  

not  make sense,  some th ings I  –  I  am not  mal ic ious ly  no t  

remember ing  and  there fore  I  wou ld  l i ke  you,  as  you assess 

what  I  am wi th  is  what  I  cou ld  remember  i t  i s  based on 

these two th ings –  the  two emai ls  tha t  I  d ra f ted  a f te r  tha t ,  

bu t  the  conversa t ion  in  my head has not  s topped.   So I  

wou ld  l i ke  you to  a l low me where  I  can remember  s tu f f  to  

indu lge  you but  r igh t  now th ings a re  –  I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  

unders tand tha t  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  be  as  he lp fu l  as  I  can,  to  Mr  20 

Myburgh and to  the  Commiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MAHLANGU:    And there fore  I  w i l l  no t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The fac t  tha t  these a re  mat te rs  tha t  

happened a  long  t ime ago has go t  to  be  fac tored in to  the  
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who le  conversa t i on ,  there  is  no  doubt  about  tha t ,  w i th  

every  w i tness,  so  –  and nobody  asks you to  ta lk  about  

th ings tha t  you know noth ing  about ,  nobody asks you to  

remember  what  you cannot  remember  bu t  obv ious ly  there  

has go t  to  be  an  assessment  o f  what  you have  p laced  

before  the  Commiss ion  and when Mr  Myburgh asks you  

quest ions about  maybe some aspects ,  i t  i s  s imp ly  a  way o f  

h im t ry ing  to  unders tand as  much as  poss ib le  f rom you so  

tha t  in  the  end  he can ass is t  me in  eva lua t ing  your  

ev idence as  we l l  as  the  ev idence o f  o ther  w i tnesses.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you ,  Cha i r.   So perhaps we  

can then go back  to  my quest ion .   Do you reca l l  what  gave  

r i se  to  your  f i rs t  d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  I  do  no t  reca l l  spec i f i ca l l y.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MAHLANGU:    Bu t  I  w i l l  p resume tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

wou ld  have ca l led  me because there  is  no  –  he  had d i rec t  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  m in i s te r  and he a l so  had access to  a l l  

o f  the  po l i t i ca l  o f f i ce  so  i t  wou ld  have been –  he  wou ld  ca l l  

me.   So I  do  no t  know a t  wh ich  po in t  wh ich  ca l l  in  fac t  20 

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  fac t  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence,  he  

sa id  you wou ld  phone h im o f ten .  

MR MAHLANGU:    That ,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  i t  wou ld  be  on a  

spec i f i c  i ssue i f  I  wou ld  ca l l .  I  wou ld  no t  deny I  ca l led  Mr  
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Mkwanaz i ,  i f  I  had a  spec i f i c  quest ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wou ld  you accept  tha t  you ca l led  

h im o f ten?  

MR MAHLANGU:    As  o f ten  as  the  o ther  cha i rpersons,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  maybe a  number  o f  t imes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r,  I  do  no t  know what  o f ten  means  

but  i t  was not  i r regu lar  to  ca l l  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i f  I  had a  

quest ion .   But  the  o f ten  is  no t  I  wou ld  ca l l  h im every  day o r  

every  second day.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I f  I  had a  quest ion  and the  quest ion  had  

to  be  someth ing  I  needed c la r i t y  on ,  maybe there  is  a  th ing  

tha t  I  need to  know tha t  the  m in is te r  o r  tha t  admin i s t ra t ion  

is  dea l ing  w i th  and I  needed contex t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  wou ld  you say you may have ca l led  

h im o f ten  or  a  number  o f  t imes  in  accordance w i th  the  

requ i rements  o f  your  job?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes,  in  the  contex t  o f  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  o ther  words,  i f  there  was someth ing  20 

about  your  j ob  tha t  you needed to  ta lk  to  h im about  you  

wou ld  phone h im? 

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.   And a lso  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And tha t  there  cou ld  have  been a  
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number  o f  those th ings.  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I t  i s  the  con tex t  as  we l l  on  what  –  

because I  cou ld  have ca l led  h im,  he  cou ld  have ca l led  me,  

I  was access ib le  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   Whenever  he  wanted to  

ta lk  to  me I  wou ld  make myse l f  ava i lab le .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So,  Mr  Mah langu,  g iven your  

imper fec t  rece ived o f  events ,  unders tandab ly,  le t  me te l l  

you  when i t  seems th is  d iscuss ion  must  have happened.   I t  10 

must  have happened,  i t  seems,  be fore  the  13  January  and I  

say  tha t  because  the  f i rs t  p iece  o f  cor respondence tha t  we 

have,  and i t  i s  go ing  to  be  pr in ted  now,  f rom Deneys Re i tz  

re la t ing  to  Mr  Gama,  was an o f fe r  made by  them to  Langa 

A t to rneys on  the  13  January.   So we know tha t  by  th is  t ime  

you must  have had th is  d iscuss ion  and Mr  Mkwanaz i  wou ld  

then have appo in ted  Deneys Re i tz  and Mr  Gu le .   Would  you 

accept  tha t?    

MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot  reca l l  bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    Bu t  what  I  see in  my emai l  i s  tha t  I  sent  

i t  in  the  even ing  a t  a round 17 …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  was a f te r  anothe r  d i scuss ion ,  

Mr  Mah langu.   That  i s  rea l l y  the  po in t  I  am mak ing .   And 

p lease,  i f  you  cou ld  jus t  l i s ten  to  me ins tead o f  look ing  a t  
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the  documents .   You had a  d iscuss ion  where  you put  

fo rward  Mr  Gu le  as  an  eminent  labour  lawyer.   We know 

f rom Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence tha t  Transnet  then appo in ted  

Mr  Gu le .    On the  13  January  2011  Mr  Gu le  wro te  to  Langa  

A t to rneys mak ing  a  w i thout  p re jud ice  se t t lement  p roposa l  

in  respect  o f  Mr  Gama.   I t  must  fo l low f rom tha t  tha t  th is  

d iscuss ion  tha t  you ta lk  about  he re  in  pa ragraph 7  was a  

d iscuss ion  tha t  occur red  before  the  13  January,  cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I t  i s  poss ib le .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    Bu t  i t  i s  no t  a lso  –  i t  i s  no t  –  i t  i s  

poss ib le  bu t  tha t  i s  no t  the  on ly  reasonab le  in fe rence.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But ,  Mr  Mah langu,  I  do  no t  want  to  

a rgue w i th  you about  th ings tha t  you yourse l f  say  you do 

not  have a  reco l lec t ion  o f .    

What  we know here  is  a  mat te r  o f  fac t ,  i s  tha t  by  the  

13  January  Gu le  i s  on  record  as  the  a t to rney.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  

says he took your  adv i ce ,  tha t  i s  why he went  to  Gu le .   I t  

fo l lows f rom tha t  tha t  th is  d iscuss ion  must  have happened 

before  then.  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  accept .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja ,  i t  i s  in  fac t  the  on ly  reasonab le  

in fe rence.  

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  I  was t ry ing  to  connec t  i t  to  

[ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  know what  you were  

t ry ing  to  do .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Ja .   No,  I  was t ry ing  to  see i f  we a re  

ta lk ing  SMA2 because i f  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  wha t  we are  ta lk ing  about .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And we are  go ing  to  come to  your  

emai l  on  the  18 t h .   Of  course  tha t  fo l lowed anothe r  

d iscuss ion  tha t  you had had w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i .   We are  

go ing  to  come to  tha t .  10 

 Now le t  me te l l  you  what  the  issue is  in  re la t ion  to  

th is  d iscuss ion .   I  pu t  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i  tha t  based on my  

read ing  o f  your  parag raph 6  and  7 ,  i t  i s  your  content ion  

tha t  Mkwanaz i  te l l s  you a t  th is  f i rs t  d iscuss ion  tha t  

Transnet  in tended to  re ins ta te  Gama.   That  i s  what  I  pu t  to  

h im.   H is  answer  was no,  tha t  i s  no t  what  he  sa id  to  you.   

What  he  sa id  to  you is  tha t  the  m in is te r  had issued an  

ins t ruc t ion  tha t  the  board  shou ld  rev iew the  fa i rness o f  

Gama’s  d i smissa l .   That  i s  h is  vers ion .    

 Now you unders tand par t  o f  my job  is  to  pu t  to  you  20 

what  he  has to  say and you must  comment  on  i t .   What  do  

you say?  

MR MAHLANGU:    My s ta tement ,  Mr  Myburgh and  

Cha i rperson,  i s  tha t  I  had a  number  o f  d i scuss ions  w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i .   In  one o f  those I  recommended …[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  do  ra ise  your  vo ice .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  had a  number  o f  d iscuss ions w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  and I  recommended tha t  he  seeks lega l  adv ice  

and I  do  no t  reca l l  spec i f i c  tha t  there  was a  rev iew tha t  the  

m in is te r  –  I  th ink  what  I  was nervous about  a t  the  t ime was  

tha t  i f  the  board  is  ac t ing  w i thout  lega l  adv i ce ,  wh ich  

probab ly  i s  the  impress ion  I  go t  a t  the  t ime,  tha t  wou ld  

have been dangerous.   So tha t  i s  where  I  was.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Your  a f f idav i t  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MAHLANGU:    So  I  cannot  comment  on  i t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you s tand by,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  

your  ve rs ion ,  be ing  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to ld  you tha t  

Transnet  in tended to  re ins ta te  Gama.  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  was my read ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   Now –  and tha t  i s  impor tan t  

because …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  i t  i s  very  impor tan t ,  s i r.   That  i s  

your  reco l lec t ion ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.   I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  even where  I  wr i te  I  

say  I  unders tand.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    H ’m.  

MR MAHLANGU:    So  i t  i s  what  –  i t  i s  the  conc lus ion  I  

d rew f rom the  d iscuss ion .   I  heard  Mr  Mkwanaz i  say ing  

maybe I  was premature .   Maybe tha t  i s  t rue ,  maybe tha t  i s  

no t ,  bu t  tha t  i s  my impress ion  o f  the  fac ts  and the  
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d iscuss ions as  they took p lace a t  tha t  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You see,  Mr  Mah langu,  you answer  

my quest ion ,  you g ive  a  c lear  answer.   You then learn  o f  i t s  

impor tance …[ in tervenes]  

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  no ,  no .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you t ry  to  take  the  edge o f f  

i t .   In  paragraph 6  you say tha t  Mkwanaz i  in fo rmed you tha t  

the  company in tended to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama.   You d id  no t  

say  I  d rew a  conc lus ion  or  I  in fe r red ,  I  was in fo rmed,  

cor rec t?  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    Mr  Myburgh,  le t  us  go  to  annexure  

SMA1 wh ich  is  a  contemporaneous  record  o f  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No,  i t  i s  no t .   That  was on the  18 t h .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am say ing  o f  the  events  a t  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Mah langu,  look  th is  s ide  

when you speak so  I  can hear.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Oh,  sor ry,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  was say ing ,  Cha i r,  there  are  two  20 

th ings.   In  the  emai l  tha t  I  wro te  I  say  I  unders tand.   Th is  i s  

on  the  18  Jan and I  sa id  the  sequenc ing  here  cou ld  be  

prob lemat ic  fo r  me but  there  was a  t ime I  was to ld  about  

the  in tended se t t lement  and we agree tha t  i t  i s  be fore  the  

13 t h ,  there  is  a  le t te r  o f  the  13 t h .   Yes,  a t  tha t  t ime I  wou ld  
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have sa id  tha t ,  go  and get  lega l  adv i ce .   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  we l l  le t  us  jus t  s t i ck  w i th  

th is .   You s tand by  what  you say in  your  a f f idav i t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  tha t  i s  f ine .   So why we  

pressed Mr  Mkwanaz i  on  th is  i s  we sa id  to  h im in  c ross-

examinat ion  tha t  how cou ld  you say to  Mr  Mah langu  before  

–  and now we know the  13  January  tha t  you were  go ing  to  

re ins ta te  Mr  Gama,  un less  you had been ins t ruc ted  to  do  

so  by  Mr  G igaba.   That  i s  rea l l y  the  propos i t ion  and  tha t  is  10 

why the  ev idence  tha t  you have g i ven here  and conf i rmed  

is  impor tan t .   You fo l low tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Ja .   Le t  us  dea l  w i th  th is  paragraph  

aga in ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  go  th rough i t .   Paragraph 6  o f  page  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Page 170.  

MR MAHLANGU:    170.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  you r  f i rs t  a f f idav i t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r,  th is  paragraph –  l i ke  there  cou ld  

be  a  t im ing  a round i t ,  wh ich  is  a  p rob lem,  bu t  there  is  a  20 

po in t  –  and as  I  sa id  to  Mr  Myburgh,  I  am prepared to  take 

i t  tha t  i t  m igh t  have been the  13 t h  o r  be fore  bu t  maybe tha t  

i s  my mischaracter isa t ion .   Whether  they in tended to  

rev iew or  re ins ta te ,  Cha i rperson,  I  cannot  g ive  you a  f i rm –  

say Mr  Mkwanaz i  i s  wrong but  in  my –  my reco l lec t ion  
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seems to  be  the  issue was the  re ins ta tement  and I  am not  

–  I  do  no t  want  to  be  too  f i rm about  i t  because I  cannot… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t ,  Mr  Mah langu,  w i th  a l l  respect ,  

you wro te  th is  in  your  a f f idav i t .   I  mean,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  

you  have sa id  there  is  a  lo t  o f  th ings you cannot  remember  

bu t  th is  you cou ld  remember,  tha t  i s  why you put  i t  in  here .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I t  i s  to  the  best  o f  my reco l lec t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Fa i r  enough .  

MR MAHLANGU:    And i t  cou ld  be  tha t  there  are  f laws in  i t  

bu t  there  were  those ta lks .   Whether  i t  was a  rev iew – bu t  10 

there  was an issue tha t  there  was someth ing  tha t  be ing  

dea l t  w i th  wh ich  was around those t imes hav ing  to  do  w i th  

Mr  Gama in  h i s  d iscuss ions w i th  Transnet  and tha t  i s  a f te r  

he  was d ismissed.   So I  am not  sure ,  Mr  Myburgh,  and I  

take  your  po in t ,  I  rea l l y  take  your  po in t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mah langu,  I  am go ing  to  dea l  w i th  

th is  in  a rgument  and t race  my way th rough the  ev idence  

tha t  you have g i ven.   I  th ink  i t  w i l l  speak fo r  i t se l f .  

 D id  you dur ing  th is  d iscuss ion  come to  learn  o f  the  

invo l vement  o f  the  m in is te r  in  any way whatsoever  because 20 

Mr  Mkwanaz i  i s  c lea r,  he  says tha t  he  to ld  you tha t  the  

m in is te r  had issued an ins t ruc t ion .   

MR MAHLANGU:    That  I  do  no t  reca l l  [ ind is t inc t ]  14 .52  

and I  –  because what  –  you see,  the  d i f f i cu l t y  there  is  tha t  

I  come in  in  December  and I  dea l  w i th  th is  mat te r  a round  
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January,  so  –  and ce r ta in  d iscuss ions accord ing  to  the  

ev idence before  the  Commiss ion ,  i t  had a l ready taken  

p lace,  so  I  am not  sure  a t  what  po in t  o f  the  d iscuss ions I  

was brought  in  and whether  I  was brought  up  to  speed  

about  the  genes is  o f  them or  to  say  there  is  th i s  mat te r  tha t  

i s  be ing  dea l t  w i th  and th is  i s  where  i t  i s  a t  and  tha t  i s  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  I  do  no t  th ink  the re  wou ld  have been 

much tha t  wou ld  have happened before  m id-January  

because remember,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  and  h is  board  a l so  –  were  10 

a lso  appo in ted  in  December.   Ac tua l l y  you were  appo in ted  

f i rs t ,  I  th ink .   You sa id  you were  appo in ted  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 

1  December.   I  th ink  they were  appo in ted  w i th  e f f ec t  f rom 

around 10 December  or  13 ,  I  am not  sure ,  the reabout .   

And,  o f  cou rse ,  there  wou ld  have been the  t rad i t iona l ,  you 

know,  Chr i s tmas break and peop le  wou ld  have come back  

to  work  around 10 January,  15 .   So I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  there  

wou ld  have been  much tha t  wou ld  have happened  before  

m id-January.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  was say ing ,  Cha i r,  I  was c la r i f y ing  tha t  20 

there  was a  conversa t ion  tha t  re la tes  to  October.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  ja .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.   So what  I  am say ing ,  in  tha t  

conversa t ion ,  I  am not  sure  a t  what  po in t  o f  tha t  

conversa t ion  I  was brought  in .  



23 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 290 
 

Page 70 of 134 
 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  there  be ing  S iya ,  I  

have ins t ruc ted  Transnet  to  look  a t  th is  mat te r,  can you 

fo l low up fo r  me  or  whether  Mkwanaz i  sa id  as  per  your  

p r inc ipa l ’s  ins t ruc t ion ,  here  is  the  update .   I  do  no t  reca l l  i t  

be ing  tha t  c r i sp .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now jus t  remind me,  why d id  you 

suggest  go  and get  lega l  adv i ce?  I  mean,  on  your  vers ion  

he  says we are  go ing  to  re ins ta te  Gama.   Wel l ,  f ine ,  why 

do you need lega l  adv i ce?  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    Not  we,  Transne t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  abso lu te ly.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  why wou ld  Transnet  need lega l  

adv ice  i f  i t  has  dec ided to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  had sa id  tha t  I  he ld  a  v iew tha t  th is  

mat te r  was a  l i t t le  b i t  too  complex .   Of  course ,  I  d id  no t  

have a  fu l l  app rec ia t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You had a  v iew.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.   That  th is  mat te r  ra ised very  20 

complex  mat te rs  and pa r t i cu la r ly  t here  was a  lo t  on  the  go ,  

r igh t?   And i t  was  a lso ,  in  my op in ion ,  i f  I  had a  pre ference,  

i t  was tha t  you needed to  dea l  w i th  th is  mat te r  c l in ica l l y  

and t ry  and conta in  whatever  needed to  be  conta in ,  

whethe r  i t  i s  the  lega l  i ssues,  the  po l i t i ca l  i ssues,  bu t  tha t  
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needed to  be  nav iga ted  w i th  care  and i f  you are  go ing  to  

nav iga te  th i s  w i th  care ,  you needed to  ac t  w i t h  lega l  

adv ice .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you unders tood tha t  th is  was a  

cont rovers ia l  i ssue?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   And is  i t  then  jus t  a  

co inc idence tha t  the  lawyer  who  you po in ted  Transnet  in  

the  d i rec t ion  o f ,  he  then prov ides an  op in ion  crea t ing  a  

s l igh t  doubt  as  to  Transnet ’s  p rospects  o f  success in  a  10 

l i t iga t ion  aga ins t  Mr  Gama which  they then accept  and  

used tha t  as  a  bas is  to  re ins ta te  h im?  I s  tha t  a l l  a  

co inc idence?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r,  I  cannot  comment  on  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot .   What  I  can say i s  tha t  as  I  go t  

to  Johannesburg  in  1999,  as  a  cand ida te  a t to rney,  I  have  

done my s t in t  in  the  employment  law depar tment  and o f  the  

eminent  lawyers  I  reca l l  o f  the  t ime,  labour  lawyers ,  Sbu  

Gule  ranked amongst  them and I  d id  no t  g i ve  h im on Sbu 20 

Gule ,  I  reca l l  tha t  we d iscussed a  number  o f  names  tha t  he  

went  away w i th .   So I  do  no t  know about  the  op in ion ,  I  do  

no t  know about  anyth ing ,  bu t  inso fa r  as  Mr  Gu le  i s  

concerned,  he  is  one o f  the  sen ior  a t to rneys in  the  c i t y  w i th  

ser ious respect .   I  th ink  even ar t i c l ed  w i th  the  DCJ.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  do  know –  or  d id  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  he  came as an  a t to rney.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  d id  you know tha t  Transnet  o f  

course  a l ready had lawyers  on  th i s  case?  

MR MAHLANGU:    A t  tha t  t ime …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you know tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes –  no ,  no ,  no ,  I  d id  no t  know – I  

know tha t  there  were  lawyers  tha t  were  adv i s ing  them on  

the  Gama mat te r.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    But  Mr  Mkwanaz i  –  remember,  the  issue  

there ,  i t  was po l i t i ca l l y  cha rged.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:    And I  th ink  the  law f i rm concerned was  

seen as  par t  o f  t he  peop le  tha t  were  purg ing  some peop le  

there .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   So you accept  tha t  i t  was 

content ious and po l i t i ca l l y  charged? 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   Now I  th ink  I  and the  DCJ 

have a l ready asked you a  ser ies  o f  quest ions about  th is .   

So here  we have  the  f i rs t  d iscuss ion .   I  have ment ioned to  

you tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  speaks o f  numerous or  var ious  

d iscuss ions tha t  you had w i th  h im  but  he  made i t  c lear  tha t  
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he  had a  number  o f  d iscuss ions w i th  you a f te r  th is  in  

re la t ion  to  Mr  Gama and tha t  those d iscuss ions were  in  the  

contex t  o f  the  m in is te r ’s  ins t ruc t ion .    

 In  o ther  words,  h is  ev idence was tha t  he  was  

l ia is ing  w i th  you  in  acqu i t t ing  h imse l f  o f  the  m in is te r ’s  

ins t ruc t ion  and he was us ing  you as  a  condu i t  to  re lay  

in fo rmat ion  to  the  m in i s te r.   That  i s  the  ex ten t  o f  h is  

reco l lec t ion  o f  h is  in te rac t ion  w i th  you.   Now do I  

unders tand you to  be  say ing  you cannot  remember  tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No,  le t  me answer  tha t  because the  10 

cha i rpersons do not  have to  speak to  me,  they speak to  me  

because they want  to  convey someth ing  to  my pr inc ipa l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Look th is  s ide .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  wha t  he  sa id .  

MR MAHLANGU:    The Cha i rpersons d id  no t  speak to  me  

fo r  me,  they wou ld  speak to  me because they wanted to  

convey someth ing  to  my pr inc ipa l  o r  to  assess where  my  

pr inc ipa l  s tood on pa r t i cu la r  mat te rs .   So tha t  wou ld  be  

cor rec t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ac tua l l y,  he  –  Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id ,  i f  I  

reca l l  cor rec t l y,  Mr  Myburgh,  o the r  than the  meet ing  tha t  he 

had w i th  Mr  G igaba,  wh ich  he  sa id  was in  October,  o the r  

than tha t  he  d id  no t  have anothe r  meet ing  w i th  h im,  I  do  

no t  know whethe r  be fore  Mr  Gama was re ins ta ted  or  he  
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never  had any o ther  meet ing  a t  a l l  bu t  i t  seems tha t  

cer ta in ly,  on  h i s  vers ion ,  be tween  the  meet ing  tha t  he  says  

he  had w i th  the  m in is te r  in  October  2010 and the  

re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama,  he  says he  never  had any  

meet ing  w i th  the  m in is te r,  he  was  l ia is ing  w i th  you  as  the  

person who wou ld  convey mat te rs  to  the  m in is te r.   Yes,  Mr  

Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  read to  

you.   I  pu t  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i  a f te r  a  lengthy  cross-

examinat ion :  10 

“So you were  keep ing  Mr  Mah langu appra i sed o f  

deve lopments  in  the  l igh t  o f  the  ins t ruc t ion  tha t  you  

got  f rom the  m in is te r  to ,  as  you put  i t ,  rev iew Mr  

Gama’s  d i smissa l?”  

He says:  

“ I  wou ld  have. ”  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r,  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  I  can reca l l ,  he  

d id  b r ie f  about  –  he  kept  me abreast  bu t  no t  on  the  de ta i l s .   

But  the  impor tan t  th ing  tha t  we need to  reca l l  i s  tha t  the  

cha i rpersons had an independent  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  20 

min is te r  and the i r  d iscuss ions w i th  the  m in is te r  where  no t  

jus t  meet ings,  they wou ld  ca l l  h im,  they wou ld  ca l l  h im 

because –  and the  m in is te r  wou ld  ca l l  them too  because I  

wou ld  have then  sa id  m in is te r,  there  i s  th is  th ing  and 

min is te r  wou ld  then p i ck  tha t  up  maybe th rough the  
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depar tment  o r  d i rec t l y  w i th  the  cha i rperson.    

So I  do  no t  know,  jus t  to  comment  on  the  Cha i r ’s  

remarks ,  I  do  no t  know i f  Mr  Mkwanaz i  and my min i s te r  had 

d iscuss ions fo l low ing those br ie f ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t ,  you see,  Mr  Mah langu,  you are  

de fec t ing  now to  d iscuss ions w i th  the  m in is te r,  I  am ta lk ing  

about  the  d iscuss ions he  had w i th  you.  

And no,  I  do  no t  agree w i th  you,  the  impor tan t  th ing  

is  whether  you  came to  learn  th rough th i s  ser ies  o f  

d iscuss ions abou t  the  m in is te r ’s  ins t ruc t ion .   That  i s  the 10 

impor tan t  th ing .  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  I  have –  I  cannot  take  i t  fu r ther,  Mr  

Myburgh,  I  have sa id  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  what  i s  your  answer,  you 

cannot  remember?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot  reca l l  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  sa id  

tha t  to  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cou ld  he  have?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  unders tand why  -  and  I  do  no t  

unders tand why not  bu t  I  cannot  take  i t  fu r ther  than I  20 

cannot  reca l l  i t ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  then  you cannot  d ispute  h is  

vers ion ,  can you,  tha t  he  to ld  you o f  the  m in is te r ’s  

ins t ruc t ion  and nor  can you d ispute  h is  vers ion  tha t  he  then  

l ia ised w i th  you  on a  number  o f  occas ions in  acqu i t t ing  
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h imse l f  o f  tha t  ins t ruc t ion .   You cannot  d ispute  tha t ,  can  

you?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r,  I  cannot  d ispute  i t  because I  

cannot  reca l l  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   Now le t  us  then dea l  w i th  

how Mr  Mapoma enters  the  scene.   We know tha t  by  the  11  

January  he  had engaged KPMG to  under take an  

invest iga t ion  o f  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec to r  repor t  and h i s  

ev idence and Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence i s  tha t  Mkwanaz i  

appo in ted  h im to  dea l  w i th  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec to r.   So he  is  10 

now dea l ing  w i th  tha t  a t  leas t  f rom the  11 January  and what  

i s  impor tan t  about  tha t  and  Mr  Mapoma’s  in i t ia l  

invo l vement ,  i s  h is  ev idence was tha t  f rom the  outse t  o f  h is  

in te rac t ions w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  he  made i t  c lear  to  h im tha t  

he ,  Mkwanaz i ,  had been ins t ruc ted  by  Mr  G igaba  –  sor ry,  

he  had been ins t ruc ted  to  re ins ta te  Gama and h i s  ev idence  

was tha t  i t  was by  someone h igher  up  in  the  m in is t ry.    How 

can tha t  be?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  know tha t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  i f  Mr  Mapoma is  to  be  be l ieved,  20 

Mr  Mkwanaz i  to ld  h im tha t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot  comment .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   And i f  Mkwanaz i  to ld  h im tha t ,  

p resumably  tha t  ins t ruc t ion  must  have come f rom Mr  

G igaba and h igher.  
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MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot  comment .   I  do  no t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Whi ls t  we a re  on  Mr  Mapoma and h i s  

in i t ia l  in te rac t ion ,  he  a lso  ta lks  about  a  meet ing  tha t  he  

a t tended between Mkwanaz i  and Gama over  the  weekend  

a t  the  Inanda Esta te  and the re  was an a t tempt  to  negot ia te  

a  se t t lement  –  so  we know th is  i s  be fore  the  se t t lement  

agreement  –  and those negot ia t ions  were  unsuccess fu l  and  

Mapoma’s  ev idence was tha t  Mkwanaz i  te l l s  h im tha t  they  

broke down because Gama wanted to  be  appo in ted ,  th is  i s  

someth ing  tha t  you were  dea l i ng  w i th ,  as  the  Ch ie f  10 

Execut ive  o f  Transnet .   Do you f ind  tha t  s t range?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  know the  fac ts ,  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Assuming tha t  happened,  wou ld  you  

f ind  tha t  s t range?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes,  tha t  i s  s t range.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And wou ld  you accept  tha t  i t  i s  

ind ica t ive  o f  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Gama must  then have had  

some very  se r ious po l i t i ca l  back ing ,  cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  know tha t ,  I  cannot  comment .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  why is  tha t  no t  ind ica t ive  o f  the  20 

fac t  tha t  Mr  Gama – i f  i t  happened .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am not  qua l i f ied  to  comment  on  tha t ,  I  

do  no t  know how to  th row po l i t i ca l l y  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Your  react i on  is  immedia te ,  you do 

not  even a l low me to  f in ish  the  propos i t ion  and i t  is  no t  a  
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mat te r  o f  qua l i f ica t ion ,  I  am ask ing  you what  e l se ,  what  

e lse  cou ld  have in fo rmed tha t  s tance by  Mr  Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  know,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Fa i r  enough .    

CHAIRPERSON:    I  guess tha t  what  you cou ld  say  is  tha t  

somebody who was d i smissed f rom a  cer ta in  pos i t ion ,  who 

has got  an  un fa i r  d ismissa l  c la im aga ins t  the  company,  

wanted to  be  re ins ta ted  to  tha t  pos i t ion  f rom which  he  was  

d ismissed shou ld  in  negot ia t ions  a imed a t  se t t l ing  tha t  

d ispute  demand to  be  appo in ted  to  a  h igher  pos i t ion  is  10 

s t range,  wou ld  be  s t range.   I  guess  tha t  you can say.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have sa id  i t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You ment ion  then in  your  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t ,  jus t  fo l low ing the  chrono logy,  tha t  

you wou ld  have  he ld  the  d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i  

a round the  18  January  and tha t  leads us  to  your  18  

January  emai l ,  co r rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  le t  us  go  then to  tha t  emai l  a t  

page 178,  bund le  1 .   Now the  f i rs t  bu l le t  po in t  says:  

“ I  have been inv i t ed  on  a  t r ip  to  Ind ia  on  24 January  

to  1  February.   A l though th is  i s  a  p r iva te  excurs ion ,  

i t  p romises to  be  o f  g rea t  po l i t i ca l  . . .and there fore  
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suggest  tha t  we take fu l l  advantage o f  i t ,  I  there fore  

request  leave to  under take th i s  so journ . ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  you then under take  th is  t r ip  

to  Ind ia?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  dea l  w i th  th is  Cha i r  in  a  separa te  

a f f idav i t  tha t  I  f i led  w i th  the  Commiss ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And I  have  read tha t  a f f idav i t ,  your  

vers ion  is  tha t  you were  inv i ted  by  Rane j  Gupta  to  a t tend a  10 

wedd ing  o f  one o f  h is  fami ly  members  and tha t  he  pa id  fo r  

you.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i rperson I  was asked to  p repare  to  

dea l  w i th  the  Transnet  i ssues and  I  dea l  ex tens ive l y  about  

my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  members  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  and I  

have not  p repared today to  dea l  w i th  tha t ,  bu t  to  Mr  

Myburgh ’s  po in t  a t  –  there  was no d iscuss ion  be tween the  

members  o f  the  Gupta  Fami ly  and  me about  Mr  Gama,  and  

ne i the r  do  I  th ink  a t  tha t  t ime they  even knew each o the r,  I  

don ’ t  know,  the  impress ion  I  reca l l  tha t  a t  tha t  t ime there  20 

was no –  he  had  not  asked anyth ing  o f  me,  they were  no t  

in famous but  I  wou ld  l i ke  Cha i r  to  dea l  w i th  i t  appropr ia te l y  

and to  be  ab le  to  adequate ly  address tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  don ’ t  in tend to  pursue tha t  any  
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fu r the r,  o f  course ,  I  mean the  po in t  I  jus t  wanted to  make  

rea l l y  i s  tha t  because o f  tha t  th is  emai l  came to  l igh t ,  

because you were  prepar ing  the  o ther  a f f idav i t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    That ’s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The o ther  a f f idav i t  asked you to 

answer  to  th is  t r ip  to  Ind ia  and you then produced,  I  th ink  i t  

was Annexure  17 ,  and i t  was in  the  contex t  o f  p repar ing  

tha t  a f f idav i t  tha t  you the  rea l i sed you shou ld  pu t  th is  up  in  

th is  –  these proceed ings.  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes  Mr  Myburgh.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  and you are  r igh t ,  you w i l l  in  

t ime you may be ca l led  as  a  w i tness to  answer  those  

a l legat ions.    Le t ’s  ge t  then to  the  second bu l le t  po in t .    

“ I  unders tand tha t  Transnet  may be near ing  a  

se t t lement  w i th  Gama.   I  w i l l  ob ta in  the  de ta i l s  o f  

the  se t t lement  and br ie f  you accord ing ly.   I  suggest  

tha t  you soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and h i s  key a ides  

[ fo rmal  and in fo rmal ]  on  the  p roposed se t t lement .    

I t  i s  in tended  tha t  fo r thcoming board  shou ld  

cons ider  and author i se  i t . ”  20 

So he re  th i s  i s  contemporaneous ,  you had a  d i scuss ing  

w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you lead up to  th is  emai l  and tha t ’s  what  

he  to ld  you?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  so  tha t  we unders tand  i t ,  you  
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can ’ t  remember  tha t ,  tha t ’s  you r  case,  bu t  you say we l l  i f  I  

wro te  i t  then i t  must  have happened.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have t r ied  to  exp la in  i t  a f te r  the  break  

Mr  Myburgh,  a t  the  t ime when I  d ra f ted  the  a f f idav i t  the  

on ly  reco l lec t ion  o f  th is  was th is  emai l ,  bu t  I  have been  

cont inuous ly  th ink ing  and t ry ing  to  unders tand and t ry ing  to  

contex tua l i se  these issues and to  p lace  them –  to  t ry  to  go  

back in to  h i s to ry,  so  I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  unders tand i t  in  

tha t  regard .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  now what ’s  impor tan t  i s  when  10 

I  pu t  th is  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i  he  says no  he d idn ’ t  say  th is  t o  

you because as  o f  the  18 t h  they weren ’ t  near ing  a  

se t t lement  and u l t imate ly  in  fac t  sa id  tha t  you made a  fa lse  

repor t  to  the  Min i s te r.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  th ink  tha t  Mr  Myburgh I  watched the  

v ideo o f  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence,  I  th ink  tha t  was  –  tha t  

concess ion  tha t  he  made,  he  made i t  under  in tense 

quest ion ing  and  a l l  o f  tha t  bu t  h is  v iew was  tha t  I  

p remature ly  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  wasn ’ t  a  concess ion ,  he  sa id  you 20 

made a  fa lse  s ta tement  to  the  Min is te r,  you indeed don ’ t  

agree w i th  h im? 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  don ’ t  agree,  the  fac ts  don ’ t  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja ,  we l l  p rec i se l y  and tha t  was the  

po in t  I  was put t ing  to  h im so  you and I  agree w i th  one  
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anothe r,  so  he  must  have to ld  you .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  the  fo rced par t  came because i t  

was sa id  i f  what  you were  say ing  was premature  –  okay I  

th ink  I  asked per t inent ly,  I  sa id  when he sa id  i t  was  

premature  is  i t  because i t  was t rue  bu t  i t  shou ld  no t  have  

been conveyed a t  tha t  t ime,  i t  was  not  the  r igh t  t ime to  te l l  

the  Min i s te r,  o r  was the  pos i t ion  tha t  as  a t  tha t  t ime what  

you sa id  had happened had not  happened,  and my 

reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  h is  response was tha t  what  you sa id  

had happened had not  happened ,  tha t  i s  my reco l lec t ion .   10 

Does i t  –  i s  i t  cons i s ten t  w i th  your  reco l lec t ion  o f  what  you  

l i s tened to?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r  I  wou ldn ’ t  want  to  labour  on  i t ,  

what  I  wro te  to  the  Min is te r  here  as  you can te l l  i s  my  

unders tand ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   And i t  p robab ly  i s  jus t  

s imp ly  a  t im ing  i ssue a t  wors t ,  you say tha t  I  w i l l  ob ta in  

de ta i l s  o f  the  se t t lement ,  in  o ther  words the  se t t lement  

agreement  o r  what  d id  you have in  m ind o f  g iv ing  to  the  20 

Min is te r?   

MR MAHLANGU:    I f  you  read the  two emai ls  I  th ink  la te r  

on  I  d id  ta l k  about  loss  o f  benef i t  . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  s ta t i c  on  

aud io ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mah langu what  de ta i l s  d id  you  
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in tend to  ge t  fo r  the  Min i s te r?   

MR MAHLANGU:    On what  bas is  the  -  what  i s  the  

se t t lement ,  what  i s  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  o ther  words a  se t t lement  

agreement?   

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes o f  the  content .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  you  then do tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How do you  remember  tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Because  tha t  i s  s ign i f i can t ,  tha t  i s  a  10 

s ign i f i can t  event .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  so  is  th is  emai l .  

MR MAHLANGU:    No I  am say ing  the  de ta i l s  o f  i t  wou ld  

have been odd,  because remember  in  my next  emai l  I  seem 

to  have –  I  seem to  know about ,  i f  you  go to  my second  

emai l  I  sa id  he  was in fo rmed th rough h is  lawyer  o f  an  o f fe r  

to  re ins ta te  h im wi th  no  l oss  o f  benef i t s  in  the  con t r ibu t ion  

towards h is  lega l  cos ts .    

 That  i s  p robab ly  what  I  meant ,  bu t  I  have no  

independent  reco l lec t ion .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  in  o ther  words,  I  th ink  you sa id  

ear l ie r  tha t  you d idn ’ t  do  th is ,  bu t  i t  seems tha t  you  d id  do  

tha t ,  you d id  ge t  de ta i l s  then . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    Not  the  agreement ,  the  agreement  I  saw 

i t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime when the  Commiss ion  gave i t  to  me.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .   How do you know tha t  you  

d idn ’ t  look  fo r  the  se t t lement  agreement?  

MR MAHLANGU:    There  a re  cer ta in  impor tan t  inc idents ,  

l i ke  –  I  don ’ t  l i ke  I  was te l l ing  you about  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You wou ld  descr ibe  ge t t ing  a  

se t t lement  agreement  f rom Transnet  as  an  impor tan t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    On the  mat te r  re la t ing  to  Mr  Gama.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  so  tha t  we unders tand one  

anothe r,  you r  ev idence here  is  you have no independent  10 

reco l lec t ion  o f  th is .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have sa id  th is  Cha i r  tha t  when I  

d ra f ted  the  a f f idav i t s  on  those two days,  these a f f idav i t s ,  

tha t  i s  a l l  I  had,  bu t  i t  doesn ’ t  mean I  have s topped  

enqu i r ing  about  the  event .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  then you suggest  tha t  you  

soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident ,  jus t  remind me what  your  answer  

was to  the  Cha i rpe rson ’s  quest ion  about  what  does tha t  

mean?  

MR MAHLANGU:    By  soc ia l i se  Cha i r  I  meant  tha t  he  must  20 

make h im aware ,  because o f  the  impor tance o f  the  mat te r,  

the  mat te r  had evoked pub l i c  in te res t  and in  fac t  there  are  

two th ings there .   The mat te r  was o f  pub l i c  in te res t ,  and  

the  mat te r  i s  wha t  the  pub l i c  was i n te res ted  in  a t  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  I  th ink  tha t  i s  impor tan t  
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ev idence tha t  you g ive .   Now not  on ly  was he to  soc ia l i se  

the  Pres ident ,  was your  adv ice ,  bu t  a lso  h is  key  a ides,  who  

wou ld  tha t  have inc luded?  

MR MAHLANGU:    A ides in  the  contex t  means the  

ass is tan ts  and adv isors  o f  the  Pres ident ,  the  inner  sanctum 

o f  the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you say bu t  i t  i s  no t  jus t  

fo rmal ly  those a ides,  i t  i s  a lso  in fo rmal  a ides,  wha t  –  jus t  

be fore  you jump in ,  who wou ld  the  Pres ident ’s  in fo rmal  

a ides have inc luded?  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    That  wou ld  have been some o f  the  

sen ior  po l i t i ca l  leaders  tha t  were  c lose r  to  the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    L ike  who d id  you have in  m ind?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have to  th ink  back bu t  you know the  

ANC has got  i t s  d i f fe ren t  compar tments  and you  have to  

make sure  tha t  a t  tha t  t ime those  tha t  a re  a l igned  to  the  

Pres ident  wou ld  no t  –  wou ld  a l so  have to  have had the i r  

say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    They wou ld  have had to  have had  

the i r  say?  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    To  the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    About  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  

Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .  
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MR MAHLANGU:    That ’s  why you wou ld  see in  my SMA2 I  

th ink  I  repeat  the  po l i t i ca l  p rob lems tha t  I  saw.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Doesn ’ t  th is  ev idence o f  yours  make  

i t  a l l  the  more  probab le  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  was ins t ruc ted  by  

the  fo rmer  Pres ident  v ia  your  Min is te r  to  re ins ta te  Mr  

Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    S i r  you r  ev idence was tha t  you fe l t  

tha t  the  a ides the  key a ides,  bo th  fo rmal  and in fo rmal ,  

shou ld  have the i r  say  about  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes Mr  Myburgh,  le t  me put  th is  in  

contex t ,  f i rs t l y  fo r  me the  pub l i c  in te res t  i s  tha t  Transnet  i s  

one o f  the  b iggest  o rgan isa t ions  in  the  count ry  and the  

b iggest  employer.   Second ly  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  runs  

80% of  A f r i ca ’s  ra i l ,  so  in  te rms o f  pub l i c  in te res t  to  me the  

impor tance o f  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  was not  los t .   The  

po l i t i c i sa t ion  o f  th is  mat te r  was a l so  no t  los t  to  me.    I f  the 

Pres ident ,  i f  Mr  G igaba in  my v iew,  and now in  h inds igh t ,  

had not  –  i f  there  i s  someth ing  as  b ig  as  t ha t ,  whether  he  

has no t  been taken,  o r  he  has been taken back tha t  I  th ink  20 

he shou ld  have br ie fed  the  Pres ident  because somehow 

tha t  mat te r  wou ld  a t  leas t  be  in  the  pub l i c  domain  and he  

wou ld  need the  Pres ident ’s  suppor t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He had the  Pres ident ’s  suppor t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  don ’ t  know,  I  am br ie f ing  you,  and as  
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we d id  some th ings,  as  we wou ld  go ,  and there  wou ld  be  

mat te rs  tha t  you  wou ld  know to  say Mr  Min i s te r  we th ink  

tha t  when th is  th ing  backf i res  you want  to  have the  

Pres ident ’s  back ing ,  tha t  i s  the  background to  wh ich  I  

th ink ,  and you wou ld  see in  tha t  emai l  there  is  a  lo t  o f  

cor respondence w i th  the  Pres idency on  unre la ted  issues 

where  we ’ re  t ry ing  to  make sure  tha t  he  is  in  a  ve ry  good  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,   and then you go on to  say  

tha t  i t  i s  in tended tha t  the  fo r thcoming board  shou ld  10 

cons ider  and author i se  i t ,  what  d id  you mean by  tha t ,  the  

fo r thcoming Board  meet ing  or  . . .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  wou ld  presume i t  i s  the  mee t ing  Mr  

Myburgh . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because you see tha t  i s  a l so  ve ry  

impor tan t ,  because i f  th is  i s  wha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to ld  you 

we l l  then what  i t  shows you is  tha t  h is  in ten t ion  was to  

persuade h is  Board  to  re ins ta te  Gama a t  the  fo r thcoming  

meet ing .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  can ’ t  comment  on  tha t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  he  to ld  you tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  s tand by  th is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  now le t  us  dea l  then w i th  

over  the  page . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Be fore  you  go over  the  page Mr  
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Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Mah langu your  s ta tement  in  tha t  f i rs t  

bu l le t  po in t  o f  18 t h  January  2011,  in  the  second bu l le t  

po in t ,  you r  suggest ion  to  the  Min i s te r  tha t  he  soc ia l i se  the  

Pres ident  and h i s  key a ides on  the  proposed se t t lement  

suggests  to  you,  and I  wou ld  l i ke  to  hear  your  comment ,  

suggest  to  me tha t  i t  i s  un l i ke ly  tha t  there  had not  been a  

d iscuss ion  invo l v ing  you and the  M in is te r  in  te rms o f  wh ich  

you had fo rmed the  impress ion  o r  unders tand ing  tha t  the  10 

Pres ident  was in te res ted  to  be  in fo rmed about  what  was 

go ing  on w i th  regard  to  the  Gama d ispute .   I s  tha t  a  fa i r  

read ing  or  ana lys is  o f  the  s ta tement?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  what  do  you say to  th is?  

MR MAHLANGU:    In  the  na ture  o f  my work  Cha i r  I  wou ld  

de termine in  my v iew whether  th is  i s  a  –  remember  Cha i r  I  

g ive  you tha t  the  Execut ive  Powers  in  the  Repub l i c  ves t  in  

the  Pres ident  and  there fo re  every  Min is te r  i s  a  counc i l lo r  o f  

the  Pres ident ,  a l though they have those de legated powers  20 

tha t  they must  d ischarge and  there fo re  i f  there  i s  

someth ing  tha t  has par t i cu la r  sens i t i v i t ies  you w i l l  do  good  

in  my v iew to  appra i se  the  Pres ident  be fo re  you take  tha t  

s tand,  and we have seen min is te rs  over  the  years  who  

have taken s teps  w i thout  b r ie f ing  the  Pres idents  and then  
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you  have ways in  wh ich  then there ’s  a  pub l i c ,  o r  a  concern  

f rom the  d is junc ture  be tween the  Pres idency and those  

Min is te rs  about  the  mean ing  o r  in tended ac t ion  by  those  

Min is te rs ,  bu t  f rom my po in t  as  I  sa id  and i t  i s  no t  th is  one,  

there  are  many o ther  ins tances where  I  wou ld  say ta lk  to  

your  co l leagues,  appra ise  the  Pres ident  so  tha t  we were  

ab le  to  make su re  tha t  when you take  s teps l i ke  those  

where  you wou ld  need back ing  f rom the  h ighest  o f f i ce  in  

the  land tha t  tha t  back ing  was ava i lab le ,  par t i cu la r ly  i f  

there  i s  a   . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  tha t  you rea l l y  need  to  be  10 

unders tood he re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see tha t  th ink ing  comes f rom th is  

tha t  I  wou ld  expect  tha t  a  spec ia l  adv i so r  to  the  Min is te r  

wou ld  leave i t  to  the  Min is te r ’s  judgment  what  he  te l l s  the  

Pres ident  and what  he  doesn ’ t  te l l  h im and when he te l l s  

h im and tha t  the  spec ia l  adv isor  wou ld  s imp ly  adv ise  the  

Min is te r  and the  Min is te r  as  a  cer ta in  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  

Pres ident  and how they in te rac t  bu t  tha t  m ight  –  you might  

no t  share  tha t ,  bu t  tha t  i s  what  I  am th ink ing .  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  a  m is taken v iew Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  no t  p rac t ica l l y  how i t  works .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You wou ld  adv ise  the  Min is te r.  

MR MAHLANGU:    You wou ld  over ru le  h im i f  he  doesn ’ t  

be l ieve  i t  i s  impor tan t .    There  are  ins tances where  we  
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over ru le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So your  adv i ce  to  h im wou ld  inc lude  

what  to  b r ing  to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Pres ident  as  we l l?  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  bu t  I  see a lso  tha t  in  te rms  o f  tha t  

s ta tement  i t  seems tha t  you cons idered tha t  i t  was  

impor tan t  no t  jus t  tha t  the  Pres ident  shou ld  be  in fo rmed 

about  Mr  Gama ’s  poss ib le  re ins ta tement  o r  i n tended  

re ins ta tement  bu t  tha t  he  shou ld  be  in fo rmed o f  the  

se t t lement  and I  take  i t  you  mean the  te rms  o f  the 10 

se t t lement ,  i s  i t  fa i r  to  read i t  l i ke  tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  th ink  Cha i r  tha t  i s  cor rect  and  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:   Yes,  le t  me leave i t  a t  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes thank  you.   So d id  Mr  G igaba  

soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident ,  G igaba soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and  

h is  key a ides?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  don ’ t  know Cha i r.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you not  fo l low up w i th  h im? 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  may have l i ke  I  sa id  there ’s  memory  

lapses there ,  I  don ’ t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    There ’s  memory  lapses?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am say ing  I  cannot  reca l l ,  maybe tha t  
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i s  an  ine legant  use o f  language,  bu t  I  cannot  reca l l  Mr  

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because le t ’s  go  to  page 180,  you  

say we sha l l  take  d iscuss ions on  some o f  these le t te rs  

eyeba l l  to  eyeba l l .    Does tha t  no t  he lp  jog  your  memory?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am not  sure  i f  we had –  I  used –  some 

o f  these th ings I  wou ld  use them to  –  these emai ls  I  wou ld  

send them to  the  Min is te r  so  tha t  in  case we don ’ t ,  

somet imes the  Min is te r  i s  in  Cape Town,  somet imes  I  am in  

Pre tor ia ,  somet imes we are  bo th  a t  the  same geography,  10 

bu t  the  impor tan t  th ing  is  tha t  I  do  no t  reca l l  h im go ing  to  

the  Pres ident ,  i f  he  d id ,  I  mean the  Min is te r  i s  a round,  he  

can tes t i f y  to  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes we l l  i t  seems the  Min is te r  have  

to  update  h i s  a f f idav i t  o r  supp lement  i t  l i ke  you d id  a f te r  

your  tes t imony.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  reca l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because the  Min i s te r  he  pu ts  up  a  

one paragraph a f f idav i t  where  he  says he  knows noth ing  

about  th is  a t  a l l ,  wh ich  your  ev idence shows cannot  be  20 

t rue .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot  comment  on  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  as  you sa id  tha t  as  spec ia l  adv isor  

to  the  Min i s te r  you wou ld  adv ise  and i t  wou ld  be  up to  the  

Min is te r  to  take  your  adv i ce  o r  no t  to  take  i t ,  and  I  th ink 
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there  a re  a  number  o f  examples  tha t  you have made in  one  

o f  you r  a f f idav i t s  where  you say he  d id  no t  take  your  

adv ice ,  he  took the  adv i ce  o f  o ther  co l leagues o f  yours  or  

o ther  peop le  in  the  depar tment .   I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  

whethe r  he  soc ia l i sed  the  –  whe ther  he  went  a long w i th  

your  adv ice  tha t  he  shou ld  soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident ,  whethe r  

he  went  a long w i th  tha t  adv ice  o r  no t  wou ld  have been  

qu i te  impor tan t  fo r  you to  know,  fo r  fu r ther  adv i ce  because 

maybe i f  the  Pres ident  wasn ’ t  happy or  was happy might  

in f luence how you adv ise  h im go ing  fo rward .  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    Chai r  in  an  idea l  c i rcumstance yes,  bu t  

in  the  po l i t i ca l  and admin is t ra t i ve  cent res  th ings happen  

ver t i ca l l y  and you have adv ised and you then saw tha t  the  

Min is te r  then is  aware  o f  your  adv ice ,  tha t  i s  your  p r imary  

i ssue,  so  in  th is  ins tance Cha i r  cons i s ten t  w i th  the  work  

tha t  we are  do ing  there  I  wou ld  have to  take  someth ing  

e lse  to  conf i rm whethe r  he  d id  o r  d idn ’ t ,  and whe ther  we  

had a  fu r ther  d iscuss ion  a f te r  tha t  I  do  no t  have any  

spec i f i c  reco l lec t ion .   I  do  no t  d ispute  tha t  i t  wou ld  have 

been impor tan t  to  fo l low up,  bu t  r igh t  now I  do  no t  have  20 

enough fac ts  to  ass i s t  you w i th  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  wou ld  you need to  c  heck Mr  

Mah langu?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am say ing  I  wou ld  have to  look  a t  the  

cor respondence between me and the  DG o r  the  –  in te rna l  
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cor respondence w i th in  the  depar tment  a t  tha t  t ime,  whethe r  

there  was any fo rmal  le t te r  wr i t ten  to  the  Pres ident  o r  

whethe r  there  was any d ia ry  en t ry,  requested meet ing  w i th  

the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  p lease speak  to  the  

Cha i rperson.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Oh sor ry.   I  wou ld  have had to  ver i f y  

f rom ob jec t i ve  ev idence w i th in  the  Depar tment  whether  the  

Min is te r  d id  o r  repor ted  back to  us .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  as  th ings s tand now you don ’ t  10 

know whethe r  Min is te r  G igaba d id  tha t  bu t  your  adv ice  was  

tha t  he  ce r ta in ly  shou ld .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  tha t  i s  the  18 t h  o f  

January.   We know then f rom the  24 t h  o f  January  t o  the  1 s t  

o f  February  you go to  Ind ia ,  so  tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am not  sure  i f  the  da tes  a re  cor rec t  

bu t  yes  I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  what  you asked,  you asked  

fo r  leave,  i f  you  go to  your  bu l le t  po in t  one.  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes,  I  am say ing  I  am not  sure  i f  those  

eventua l l y  tha t  was the  da te  bu t  somewhere  a round those  

t imes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  on  those dates  tha t  you  

gave the  Min i s te r  your  t r ip  was p lanned f rom 24 January  to  
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1  February.   Now jus t  to  fo l low the  chrono logy,  on  the  21s t  

o f  January,  tha t  was the  f i rs t  board  meet ing  Transnet  where  

Mr  Gama was d iscussed.   I  am t ry ing  to  t race  the  s teps to  

your  next  emai l  o f  the  4 t h  o f  February.  

 So we know you are  back on  abou t  the  1s t  o r  2 n d  o f  

February,  the  board  meet ing  on  the  21s t  o f  January  and 

now I  want  to  ge t  to  a  meet ing  tha t  was he ld  the  day  be fore  

your  4  February  emai l ,  and tha t  was a  meet ing  o f  the  

Corpora te  Governance Nominat ions Commi t tee .   Perhaps I  

cou ld  ask  you p lease to  go  to  f i le  one,  Bund le  1 .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  one tha t  has go t  your  emai ls .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Pardon?  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  one tha t  has go t  you r  emai ls ,  

SMA1 and SMA2.  

MR MANHLANGU:    Oh,  thank you Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And –  yes I  beg your  pardon,  i t  i s  the  

same f i le ,  can you tu rn  a l l  the  way  to  page 855.  

MR MAHLANGU:    855.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now th is  i s  a  meet ing  tha t  p recedes  

your  d i scuss ion  and emai l  o f  the  next  day.   Perhaps in  20 

fa i rness le t  me take you to  page 827 f i rs t .    

MR MAHLANGU:    827?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    827.   So you see there  m inutes  o f  a  

meet ing ,  Corpora te  Governance and Nominat ion  Commi t tee  

on  3  February  2011,  p resent  Mr  Mkwanaz i  e tce tera ,  do  you  
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see tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  1 .4  a lso  Mr  Mapoma.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now the  bus iness o f  th is  commi t tee  

Mr  Mah langu on  th is  day was by  and la rge  to  debate  

whethe r  o r  no t  Mr  Gama,  h is  app l i ca t ion  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  shou ld  be  a l lowed,  and whethe r  

there  shou ld  be  a  dev ia t ion  f rom what  i s  known as  C lause 

4 .8 .4  wh ich  says as  a  genera l  ru le  i f  you  are  d i smissed you  10 

cannot  be  re -emp loyed.  

 So tha t  was the  debate  and we know tha t  you dea l  

w i th  th is  in  your  emai l  o f  the  4 t h  o f  February,  fu r ther  to  a  

d iscuss ion  you had w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

 Now I  am re fe r r i ng  you now to  page  855,  a l so  pa r t  

o f  the  t ransc r ip t  and a t  855 a t  695 on the  le f t  hand s ide  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  had asked Mr  Mapoma to  g ive  h is  v iew on Mr  

Gama’s  d i smissa l ,  i ssue o f  se t t lement  e tce tera ,  and  th is  i s  

the  passage where  he  says now adv ise  the  Cha i r  to  say:  

“ I f  we a t  Transne t  go  to  the  appea l  and oppose the  20 

appea l ,  tha t  i s  the  arb i t ra t ion ,  we s tand a  ve ry  good  

chance o f  w inn ing  tha t  appea l ,  tha t  was my v iew a t  

the  t ime.   Where  I  am say ing  we a re  no t  s t rong  

Dor is ,  tha t  i s  the  d i rec to r,  i s  i f  we have to  exp la in  

the  ra t iona l i t y  o f  why we a re  se t t l ing  I  do  no t  th ink  
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we a re  on  very  s t rong g round on tha t .   That  i s  my  

v iew but  on  the  d isc ip l inary  process i t se l f  and i f  we  

go and argue the  mat te r  on  appea l  we s tand a  very  

good chance o f  succeed ing .   S iya  can w in ,  bu t  we 

can a lso  w in  as  Transnet ,  we have a  very,  very  good  

case aga ins t  h im there . ”  

So i t  seems then  tha t  the  d iscuss ion  tha t  you have w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  on  the  4 t h  o f  February  then g i ves  r i se  to  your  

emai l ,  i t  i s  in  th is  contex t ,  the  debate  about  a l low ing Mr  

Gama’s  app l i ca t ion ,  cor rec t?  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  what  i s  a l so  impor tan t  fo r  the  

purposes o f  you r  ev idence,  and we are  go ing  to  come to  i t  

jus t  now,  i s  you see how Mr  Mapoma is  rea l l y  dead  aga ins t  

se t t lement .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  fac t  he  says i t  wou ld  be  i r ra t iona l  

to  se t t le .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you see tha t?   And Mr  Mapona 20 

was as  fo r th r igh t  when i t  came to  the  issue o f  the  payment  

o f  Mr  Gama’s  costs ,  you might  have seen h is ,  l i s tened to  

h is  ev idence.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He was  u t te r ly  opposed  to  the  
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payment  o f  Mr  Gama’s  costs ,  you  wou ld  have heard  tha t ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  saw tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  us  then go to  your  ema i l  o f  the  

next  day,  the  4 t h  o f  February.   We need to  go  back  p lease  

to  page 181 o f  th is  bund le ,  and he re  you say on  the  4 t h  o f  

February  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    The page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    181,  your  second emai l .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say:  

“Dear  Min i s te r  

A t  my meet ing  w i th  Cha i r  . . . ”  

I  assume tha t  i s  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  

says  tha t  you wou ld  have he ld  tha t  meet ing  on  or  about  the  

same day.  

MR MAHLANGU:    P robab ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And rea l l y  what  you d iscussed w i th  20 

h im was th is  i ssue o f  Mr  Gama and h is  app l i ca t ion  fo r  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive ,  co r rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a long the  way you a lso  

d iscussed w i th  h im the  issue o f  a  se t t lement  w i th  Mr  
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Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now the  two th ings were  in te r tw ined  

weren ’ t  they?  

MR MAHLANGU:    In  my v iew they were .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    They were  or  they weren ’ t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    They were .  

CHAIRPERSON:    They were ,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  want  to  pu t  to  you sugges t  10 

tha t  we take fu l l  advantage o f  i t ,  I  there fore  reques t  

leave to  under take th is  so journ . ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  you then under take  th is  t r ip  

to  Ind ia?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  dea l  w i th  th is  Cha i r  in  a  separa te  

a f f idav i t  tha t  I  f i led  w i th  the  Commiss ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And I  have  read tha t  a f f idav i t ,  your  

vers ion  is  tha t  you were  inv i ted  by  Rane j  Gupta  to  a t tend a  20 

wedd ing  o f  one o f  h is  fami ly  members  and tha t  he  pa id  fo r  

you.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i rperson I  was asked to  p repare  to  

dea l  w i th  the  Transnet  i ssues and  I  dea l  ex tens ive l y  about  

my re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  members  o f  the  Gupta  fami ly  and I  
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have not  p repared today to  dea l  w i th  tha t ,  bu t  to  Mr  

Myburgh ’s  po in t  a t  –  there  was no d iscuss ion  be tween the  

members  o f  the  Gupta  Fami ly  and  me about  Mr  Gama,  and  

ne i the r  do  I  th ink  a t  tha t  t ime they  even knew each o the r,  I  

don ’ t  know,  the  impress ion  I  reca l l  tha t  a t  tha t  t ime there  

was no –  he  had  not  asked anyth ing  o f  me,  they were  no t  

in famous but  I  wou ld  l i ke  Cha i r  to  dea l  w i th  i t  appropr ia te l y  

and to  be  ab le  to  adequate ly  address tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  don ’ t  in tend to  pursue tha t  any  10 

fu r the r,  o f  course ,  I  mean the  po in t  I  jus t  wanted to  make  

rea l l y  i s  tha t  because o f  tha t  th is  emai l  came to  l igh t ,  

because you were  prepar ing  the  o ther  a f f idav i t .  

MR MAHLANGU:    That ’s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The o ther  a f f idav i t  asked you to 

answer  to  th is  t r ip  to  Ind ia  and you then produced,  I  th ink  i t  

was Annexure  17 ,  and i t  was in  the  contex t  o f  p repar ing  

tha t  a f f idav i t  tha t  you the  rea l i sed you shou ld  pu t  th is  up  in  

th is  –  these proceed ings.  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes  Mr  Myburgh.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  and you are  r igh t ,  you w i l l  in  

t ime you may be ca l led  as  a  w i tness to  answer  those  

a l legat ions.    Le t ’s  ge t  then to  the  second bu l le t  po in t .    

“ I  unders tand tha t  Transnet  may be near ing  a  

se t t lement  w i th  Gama.   I  w i l l  ob ta in  the  de ta i l s  o f  
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the  se t t lement  and br ie f  you accord ing ly.   I  suggest  

tha t  you soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and h i s  key a ides  

[ fo rmal  and in fo rmal ]  on  the  p roposed se t t lement .    

I t  i s  in tended  tha t  fo r thcoming board  shou ld  

cons ider  and author i se  i t . ”  

So he re  th i s  i s  contemporaneous ,  you had a  d i scuss ing  

w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you lead up to  th is  emai l  and tha t ’s  what  

he  to ld  you?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  so  tha t  we unders tand  i t ,  you  10 

can ’ t  remember  tha t ,  tha t ’s  you r  case,  bu t  you say we l l  i f  I  

wro te  i t  then i t  must  have happened.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have t r ied  to  exp la in  i t  a f te r  the  break  

Mr  Myburgh,  a t  the  t ime when I  d ra f ted  the  a f f idav i t  the  

on ly  reco l lec t ion  o f  th is  was th is  emai l ,  bu t  I  have been  

cont inuous ly  th ink ing  and t ry ing  to  unders tand and t ry ing  to  

contex tua l i se  these issues and to  p lace  them – to  t ry  to  go  

back in to  h i s to ry,  so  I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  unders tand i t  in  

tha t  regard .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  now what ’s  impor tan t  i s  when  20 

I  pu t  th is  to  Mr  Mkwanaz i  he  says no  he d idn ’ t  say  th is  t o  

you because as  o f  the  18 t h  they weren ’ t  near ing  a  

se t t lement  and u l t imate ly  in  fac t  sa id  tha t  you made a  fa lse  

repor t  to  the  Min i s te r.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  th ink  tha t  Mr  Myburgh I  watched the  
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v ideo o f  Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  ev idence,  I  th ink  tha t  was  –  tha t  

concess ion  tha t  he  made,  he  made i t  under  in tense 

quest ion ing  and  a l l  o f  tha t  bu t  h is  v iew was  tha t  I  

p remature ly  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  wasn ’ t  a  concess ion ,  he  sa id  you 

made a  fa lse  s ta tement  to  the  Min is te r,  you indeed don ’ t  

agree w i th  h im? 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  don ’ t  agree,  the  fac ts  don ’ t  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja ,  we l l  p rec i se l y  and tha t  was the  

po in t  I  was put t ing  to  h im so  you and I  agree w i th  one  10 

anothe r,  so  he  must  have to ld  you .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  the  fo rced par t  came because i t  

was sa id  i f  what  you were  say ing  was premature  –  okay I  

th ink  I  asked per t inent ly,  I  sa id  when he sa id  i t  was  

premature  is  i t  because i t  was t rue  bu t  i t  shou ld  no t  have  

been conveyed a t  tha t  t ime,  i t  was  not  the  r igh t  t ime to  te l l  

the  Min i s te r,  o r  was the  pos i t ion  tha t  as  a t  tha t  t ime what  

you sa id  had happened had not  happened,  and my 

reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  h is  response was tha t  what  you sa id  

had happened had not  happened ,  tha t  i s  my reco l lec t ion .   20 

Does i t  –  i s  i t  cons i s ten t  w i th  your  reco l lec t ion  o f  what  you  

l i s tened to?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Cha i r  I  wou ldn ’ t  want  to  labour  on  i t ,  

what  I  wro te  to  the  Min is te r  here  as  you can te l l  i s  my  

unders tand ing .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   And i t  p robab ly  i s  jus t  

s imp ly  a  t im ing  i ssue a t  wors t ,  you say tha t  I  w i l l  ob ta in  

de ta i l s  o f  the  se t t lement ,  in  o ther  words the  se t t lement  

agreement  o r  what  d id  you have in  m ind o f  g iv ing  to  the  

Min is te r?   

MR MAHLANGU:    I f  you  read the  two emai ls  I  th ink  la te r  

on  I  d id  ta l k  about  loss  o f  benef i t  . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  s ta t i c  on  

aud io ] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mah langu what  de ta i l s  d id  you  10 

in tend to  ge t  fo r  the  Min i s te r?   

MR MAHLANGU:    On what  bas is  the  -  what  i s  the  

se t t lement ,  what  i s  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  o ther  words a  se t t lement  

agreement?   

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes o f  the  content .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And d id  you  then do tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    How do you  remember  tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Because  tha t  i s  s ign i f i can t ,  tha t  i s  a  20 

s ign i f i can t  event .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But  so  is  th is  emai l .  

MR MAHLANGU:    No I  am say ing  the  de ta i l s  o f  i t  wou ld  

have been odd,  because remember  in  my next  emai l  I  seem 

to  have –  I  seem to  know about ,  i f  you  go to  my second  
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emai l  I  sa id  he  was in fo rmed th rough h is  lawyer  o f  an  o f fe r  

to  re ins ta te  h im wi th  no  l oss  o f  benef i t s  in  the  con t r ibu t ion  

towards h is  lega l  cos ts .    

 That  i s  p robab ly  what  I  meant ,  bu t  I  have no  

independent  reco l lec t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  in  o ther  words,  I  th ink  you sa id  

ear l ie r  tha t  you d idn ’ t  do  th is ,  bu t  i t  seems tha t  you  d id  do  

tha t ,  you d id  ge t  de ta i l s  then . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    Not  the  agreement ,  the  agreement  I  saw 

i t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime when the  Commiss ion  gave i t  to  me.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .   How do you know tha t  you  

d idn ’ t  look  fo r  the  se t t lement  agreement?  

MR MAHLANGU:    There  a re  cer ta in  impor tan t  inc idents ,  

l i ke  –  I  don ’ t  l i ke  I  was te l l ing  you about  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You wou ld  descr ibe  ge t t ing  a  

se t t lement  agreement  f rom Transnet  as  an  impor tan t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    On the  mat te r  re la t ing  to  Mr  Gama.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  so  tha t  we unders tand one  

anothe r,  you r  ev idence here  is  you have no independent  20 

reco l lec t ion  o f  th is .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have sa id  th is  Cha i r  tha t  when I  

d ra f ted  the  a f f idav i t s  on  those two days,  these a f f idav i t s ,  

tha t  i s  a l l  I  had,  bu t  i t  doesn ’ t  mean I  have s topped  

enqu i r ing  about  the  event .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  then you suggest  tha t  you  

soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident ,  jus t  remind me what  your  answer  

was to  the  Cha i rpe rson ’s  quest ion  about  what  does tha t  

mean?  

MR MAHLANGU:    By  soc ia l i se  Cha i r  I  meant  tha t  he  must  

make h im aware ,  because o f  the  impor tance o f  the  mat te r,  

the  mat te r  had evoked pub l i c  in te res t  and in  fac t  there  are  

two th ings there .   The mat te r  was o f  pub l i c  in te res t ,  and  

the  mat te r  i s  wha t  the  pub l i c  was i n te res ted  in  a t  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  I  th ink  tha t  i s  impor tan t  10 

ev idence tha t  you g ive .   Now not  on ly  was he to  soc ia l i se  

the  Pres ident ,  was your  adv ice ,  bu t  a lso  h is  key  a ides,  who  

wou ld  tha t  have inc luded?  

MR MAHLANGU:    A ides in  the  contex t  means the  

ass is tan ts  and adv isors  o f  the  Pres ident ,  the  inner  sanctum 

o f  the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you say bu t  i t  i s  no t  jus t  

fo rmal ly  those a ides,  i t  i s  a lso  in fo rmal  a ides,  wha t  –  jus t  

be fore  you jump in ,  who wou ld  the  Pres ident ’s  in fo rmal  

a ides have inc luded?  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    That  wou ld  have been some o f  the  

sen ior  po l i t i ca l  leaders  tha t  were  c lose r  to  the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    L ike  who d id  you have in  m ind?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  have to  th ink  back bu t  you know the  

ANC has got  i t s  d i f fe ren t  compar tments  and you  have to  
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make sure  tha t  a t  tha t  t ime those  tha t  a re  a l igned  to  the  

Pres ident  wou ld  no t  –  wou ld  a l so  have to  have had the i r  

say.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    They wou ld  have had to  have had  

the i r  say?  

MR MAHLANGU:    To  the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    About  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  

Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .  10 

MR MAHLANGU:    That ’s  why you wou ld  see in  my SMA2 I  

th ink  I  repeat  the  po l i t i ca l  p rob lems tha t  I  saw.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Doesn ’ t  th is  ev idence o f  yours  make  

i t  a l l  the  more  probab le  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  was ins t ruc ted  by  

the  fo rmer  Pres ident  v ia  your  Min is te r  to  re ins ta te  Mr  

Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    S i r  you r  ev idence was tha t  you fe l t  

tha t  the  a ides the  key a ides,  bo th  fo rmal  and in fo rmal ,  

shou ld  have the i r  say  about  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes Mr  Myburgh,  le t  me put  th is  in  

contex t ,  f i rs t l y  fo r  me the  pub l i c  in te res t  i s  tha t  Transnet  i s  

one o f  the  b iggest  o rgan isa t ions  in  the  count ry  and the  

b iggest  employer.   Second ly  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  runs  

80% of  A f r i ca ’s  ra i l ,  so  in  te rms o f  pub l i c  in te res t  to  me the  
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impor tance o f  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  was not  los t .   The  

po l i t i c i sa t ion  o f  th is  mat te r  was a l so  no t  los t  to  me.    I f  the 

Pres ident ,  i f  Mr  G igaba in  my v iew,  and now in  h inds igh t ,  

had not  –  i f  there  i s  someth ing  as  b ig  as  t ha t ,  whether  he  

has no t  been taken,  o r  he  has been taken back tha t  I  th ink  

he  shou ld  have br ie fed  the  Pres ident  because somehow 

tha t  mat te r  wou ld  a t  leas t  be  in  the  pub l i c  domain  and he  

wou ld  need the  Pres ident ’s  suppor t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He had the  Pres ident ’s  suppor t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  don ’ t  know,  I  am br ie f ing  you,  and as  10 

we d id  some th ings,  as  we wou ld  go ,  and there  wou ld  be  

mat te rs  tha t  you  wou ld  know to  say Mr  Min i s te r  we th ink  

tha t  when th is  th ing  backf i res  you want  to  have the  

Pres ident ’s  back ing ,  tha t  i s  the  background to  wh ich  I  

th ink ,  and you wou ld  see in  tha t  emai l  there  is  a  lo t  o f  

cor respondence w i th  the  Pres idency on  unre la ted  issues 

where  we ’ re  t ry ing  to  make sure  tha t  he  is  in  a  ve ry  good  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,   and then you go on to  say  

tha t  i t  i s  in tended tha t  the  fo r thcoming board  shou ld  20 

cons ider  and author i se  i t ,  what  d id  you mean by  tha t ,  the  

fo r thcoming Board  meet ing  or  . . .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  wou ld  presume i t  i s  the  mee t ing  Mr  

Myburgh . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because you see tha t  i s  a l so  ve ry  
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impor tan t ,  because i f  th is  i s  wha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to ld  you 

we l l  then what  i t  shows you is  tha t  h is  in ten t ion  was to  

persuade h is  Board  to  re ins ta te  Gama a t  the  fo r thcoming  

meet ing .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  can ’ t  comment  on  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  he  to ld  you tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  s tand by  th is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  now le t  us  dea l  then w i th  

over  the  page . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Be fore  you  go over  the  page Mr  10 

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Mah langu your  s ta tement  in  tha t  f i rs t  

bu l le t  po in t  o f  18 t h  January  2011,  in  the  second bu l le t  

po in t ,  you r  suggest ion  to  the  Min i s te r  tha t  he  soc ia l i se  the  

Pres ident  and h i s  key a ides on  the  proposed se t t lement  

suggests  to  you,  and I  wou ld  l i ke  to  hear  your  comment ,  

suggest  to  me tha t  i t  i s  un l i ke ly  tha t  there  had not  been a  

d iscuss ion  invo l v ing  you and the  M in is te r  in  te rms o f  wh ich  

you had fo rmed the  impress ion  o r  unders tand ing  tha t  the  20 

Pres ident  was in te res ted  to  be  in fo rmed about  what  was 

go ing  on w i th  regard  to  the  Gama d ispute .   I s  tha t  a  fa i r  

read ing  or  ana lys is  o f  the  s ta tement?  

MR MAHLANGU:    No Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  what  do  you say to  th is?  
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MR MAHLANGU:    In  the  na ture  o f  my work  Cha i r  I  wou ld  

de termine in  my v iew whether  th is  i s  a  –  remember  Cha i r  I  

g ive  you tha t  the  Execut ive  Powers  in  the  Repub l i c  ves t  in  

the  Pres ident  and  there fo re  every  Min is te r  i s  a  counc i l lo r  o f  

the  Pres ident ,  a l though they have those de legated powers  

tha t  they must  d ischarge and  there fo re  i f  there  i s  

someth ing  tha t  has par t i cu la r  sens i t i v i t ies  you w i l l  do  good  

in  my v iew to  appra i se  the  Pres ident  be fo re  you take  tha t  

s tand,  and we have seen min is te rs  over  the  years  who  

have taken s teps  w i thout  b r ie f ing  the  Pres idents  and then  10 

you have ways in  wh ich  then there ’s  a  pub l i c ,  o r  a  concern  

f rom the  d is junc ture  be tween the  Pres idency and those  

Min is te rs  about  the  mean ing  o r  in tended ac t ion  by  those  

Min is te rs ,  bu t  f rom my po in t  as  I  sa id  and i t  i s  no t  th is  one,  

there  are  many o ther  ins tances where  I  wou ld  say ta lk  to  

your  co l leagues,  appra ise  the  Pres ident  so  tha t  we were  

ab le  to  make su re  tha t  when you take  s teps l i ke  those  

where  you wou ld  need back ing  f rom the  h ighest  o f f i ce  in  

the  land tha t  tha t  back ing  was ava i lab le ,  par t i cu la r ly  i f  

there  i s  a   . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  tha t  you rea l l y  need  to  be  20 

unders tood he re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see tha t  th ink ing  comes f rom th is  

tha t  I  wou ld  expect  tha t  a  spec ia l  adv i so r  to  the  Min is te r  

wou ld  leave i t  to  the  Min is te r ’s  judgment  what  he  te l ls  the  

Pres ident  and what  he  doesn ’ t  te l l  h im and when he te l l s  
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h im and tha t  the  spec ia l  adv isor  wou ld  s imp ly  adv ise  the  

Min is te r  and the  Min is te r  as  a  cer ta in  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  

Pres ident  and how they in te rac t  bu t  tha t  m ight  –  you might  

no t  share  tha t ,  bu t  tha t  i s  what  I  am th ink ing .  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  a  m is taken v iew Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  

MR MAHLANGU:   That  i s  no t  p rac t ica l l y  how i t  works .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You wou ld  adv ise  the  Min is te r.  

MR MAHLANGU:    You wou ld  over ru le  h im i f  he  doesn ’ t  

be l ieve  i t  i s  impor tan t .    There  are  ins tances where  we  10 

over ru le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So your  adv i ce  to  h im wou ld  inc lude  

what  to  b r ing  to  the  a t ten t ion  o f  the  Pres ident  as  we l l?  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  bu t  I  see a lso  tha t  in  te rms  o f  tha t  

s ta tement  i t  seems tha t  you cons idered tha t  i t  was  

impor tan t  no t  jus t  tha t  the  Pres ident  shou ld  be  in fo rmed 

about  Mr  Gama ’s  poss ib le  re ins ta tement  o r  i n tended  

re ins ta tement  bu t  tha t  he  shou ld  be  in fo rmed o f  the  

se t t lement  and I  take  i t  you  mean the  te rms  o f  the 20 

se t t lement ,  i s  i t  fa i r  to  read i t  l i ke  tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  th ink  Cha i r  tha t  i s  cor rec t  and  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR MAHLANGU:   Yes,  le t  me leave i t  a t  tha t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes thank  you.   So d id  Mr  G igaba  

soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident ,  G igaba soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident  and  

h is  key a ides?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  don ’ t  know Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you not  fo l low up w i th  h im? 

MR MAHLANGU:    I  may have l i ke  I  sa id  there ’s  memory  

lapses there ,  I  don ’ t  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    There ’s  memory  lapses?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am say ing  I  cannot  reca l l ,  maybe tha t  10 

is  an  ine legant  use o f  language,  bu t  I  cannot  reca l l  Mr  

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because le t ’s  go  to  page 180,  you  

say we sha l l  take  d iscuss ions on  some o f  these le t te rs  

eyeba l l  to  eyeba l l .    Does tha t  no t  he lp  jog  your  memory?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am not  sure  i f  we had –  I  used –  some 

o f  these th ings I  wou ld  use them to  –  these emai ls  I  wou ld  

send them to  the  Min is te r  so  tha t  in  case we don ’ t ,  

somet imes the  Min is te r  i s  in  Cape Town,  somet imes  I  am in  

Pre tor ia ,  somet imes we are  bo th  a t  the  same geography,  20 

bu t  the  impor tan t  th ing  is  tha t  I  do  no t  reca l l  h im go ing  to  

the  Pres ident ,  i f  he  d id ,  I  mean the  Min is te r  i s  a round,  he  

can tes t i f y  to  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes we l l  i t  seems the  Min is te r  have  

to  update  h i s  a f f idav i t  o r  supp lement  i t  l i ke  you d id  a f te r  
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your  tes t imony.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  do  no t  reca l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because the  Min i s te r  he  pu ts  up  a  

one paragraph a f f idav i t  where  he  says he  knows noth ing  

about  th is  a t  a l l ,  wh ich  your  ev idence shows cannot  be  

t rue .  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  cannot  comment  on  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  as  you sa id  tha t  as  spec ia l  adv isor  

to  the  Min i s te r  you wou ld  adv ise  and i t  wou ld  be  up to  the  

Min is te r  to  take  your  adv i ce  o r  no t  to  take  i t ,  and  I  th ink 10 

there  a re  a  number  o f  examples  tha t  you have made in  one  

o f  you r  a f f idav i t s  where  you say he  d id  no t  take  your  

adv ice ,  he  took the  adv i ce  o f  o ther  co l leagues o f  yours  or  

o ther  peop le  in  the  depar tment .   I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  

whethe r  he  soc ia l i sed  the  –  whe ther  he  went  a long w i th  

your  adv ice  tha t  he  shou ld  soc ia l i se  the  Pres ident ,  whethe r  

he  went  a long w i th  tha t  adv ice  o r  no t  wou ld  have been  

qu i te  impor tan t  fo r  you to  know,  fo r  fu r ther  adv i ce  because 

maybe i f  the  Pres ident  wasn ’ t  happy or  was happy might  

in f luence how you adv ise  h im go ing  fo rward .  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    Chai r  in  an  idea l  c i rcumstance yes,  bu t  

in  the  po l i t i ca l  and admin is t ra t i ve  cent res  th ings happen  

ver t i ca l l y  and you have adv ised and you then saw tha t  the  

Min is te r  then is  aware  o f  your  adv ice ,  tha t  i s  your  p r imary  

i ssue,  so  in  th is  ins tance Cha i r  cons i s ten t  w i th  the  work  
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tha t  we are  do ing  there  I  wou ld  have to  take  someth ing  

e lse  to  conf i rm whethe r  he  d id  o r  d idn ’ t ,  and whe ther  we  

had a  fu r ther  d iscuss ion  a f te r  tha t  I  do  no t  have any  

spec i f i c  reco l lec t ion .   I  do  no t  d ispute  tha t  i t  wou ld  have 

been impor tan t  to  fo l low up,  bu t  r igh t  now I  do  no t  have  

enough fac ts  to  ass i s t  you w i th  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  wou ld  you need to  c  heck Mr  

Mah langu?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am say ing  I  wou ld  have to  look  a t  the  

cor respondence between me and the  DG o r  the  –  in te rna l  10 

cor respondence w i th in  the  depar tment  a t  tha t  t ime,  whethe r  

there  was any fo rmal  le t te r  wr i t ten  to  the  Pres ident  o r  

whethe r  there  was any d ia ry  en t ry,  requested meet ing  w i th  

the  Pres ident .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  p lease speak  to  the  

Cha i rperson.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Oh sor ry.   I  wou ld  have had to  ver i f y  

f rom ob jec t i ve  ev idence w i th in  the  Depar tment  whether  the  

Min is te r  d id  o r  repor ted  back to  us .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  as  th ings s tand now you don ’ t  20 

know whethe r  Min is te r  G igaba d id  tha t  bu t  your  adv ice  was  

tha t  he  ce r ta in ly  shou ld .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  tha t  i s  the  18 t h  o f  

January.   We know then f rom the  24 t h  o f  January  t o  the  1 s t  
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o f  February  you go to  Ind ia ,  so  tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    I  am not  sure  i f  the  da tes  a re  cor rec t  

bu t  yes  I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  what  you asked,  you asked  

fo r  leave,  i f  you  go to  your  bu l le t  po in t  one.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes,  I  am say ing  I  am not  sure  i f  those  

eventua l l y  tha t  was the  da te  bu t  somewhere  a round those  

t imes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  on  those dates  tha t  you  

gave the  Min i s te r  your  t r ip  was p lanned f rom 24 January  to  10 

1  February.   Now jus t  to  fo l low the  chrono logy,  on  the  21s t  

o f  January,  tha t  was the  f i rs t  board  meet ing  Transnet  where  

Mr  Gama was d iscussed.   I  am t ry ing  to  t race  the  s teps to  

your  next  emai l  o f  the  4 t h  o f  February.  

 So we know you are  back on  abou t  the  1s t  o r  2 n d  o f  

February,  the  board  meet ing  on  the  21s t  o f  January  and 

now I  want  to  ge t  to  a  meet ing  tha t  was he ld  the  day  be fore  

your  4  February  emai l ,  and tha t  was a  meet ing  o f  the  

Corpora te  Governance Nominat ions Commi t tee .   Perhaps I  

cou ld  ask  you p lease to  go  to  f i le  one,  Bund le  1 .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  one tha t  has go t  your  emai ls .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Pardon?  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  the  one tha t  has go t  you r  emai ls ,  

SMA1 and SMA2.  

MR MANHLANGU:    Oh,  thank you Cha i r.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And –  yes I  beg your  pardon,  i t  i s  the  

same f i le ,  can you tu rn  a l l  the  way  to  page 855.  

MR MAHLANGU:    855.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now th is  i s  a  meet ing  tha t  p recedes  

your  d i scuss ion  and emai l  o f  the  next  day.   Perhaps in  

fa i rness le t  me take you to  page 827 f i rs t .    

MR MAHLANGU:    827?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    827.   So you see there  m inutes  o f  a  

meet ing ,  Corpora te  Governance and Nominat ion  Commi t tee  

on  3  February  2011,  p resent  Mr  Mkwanaz i  e tce tera ,  do  you  10 

see tha t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then a t  1 .4  a lso  Mr  Mapoma.  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now the  bus iness o f  th is  commi t tee  

Mr  Mah langu on  th is  day was by  and la rge  to  debate  

whethe r  o r  no t  Mr  Gama,  h is  app l i ca t ion  fo r  the  pos i t ion  o f  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  shou ld  be  a l lowed,  and whethe r  

there  shou ld  be  a  dev ia t ion  f rom what  i s  known as  C lause 

4 .8 .4  wh ich  says as  a  genera l  ru le  i f  you  are  d i smissed you  20 

cannot  be  re -emp loyed.  

 So tha t  was the  debate  and we know tha t  you dea l  

w i th  th is  in  your  emai l  o f  the  4 t h  o f  February,  fu r ther  to  a  

d iscuss ion  you had w i th  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

 Now I  am re fe r r i ng  you now to  page  855,  a l so  pa r t  
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o f  the  t ransc r ip t  and a t  855 a t  695 on the  le f t  hand s ide  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  had asked Mr  Mapoma to  g ive  h is  v iew on Mr  

Gama’s  d i smissa l ,  i ssue o f  se t t lement  e tce tera ,  and  th is  i s  

the  passage where  he  says now adv ise  the  Cha i r  to  say:  

“ I f  we a t  Transne t  go  to  the  appea l  and oppose the  

appea l ,  tha t  i s  the  arb i t ra t ion ,  we s tand a  ve ry  good  

chance o f  w inn ing  tha t  appea l ,  tha t  was my v iew a t  

the  t ime.   Where  I  am say ing  we a re  no t  s t rong  

Dor is ,  tha t  i s  the  d i rec to r,  i s  i f  we have to  exp la in  

the  ra t iona l i t y  o f  why we a re  se t t l ing  I  do  no t  th ink  10 

we a re  on  very  s t rong g round on tha t .   That  i s  my  

v iew but  on  the  d isc ip l inary  process i t se l f  and i f  we  

go and argue the  mat te r  on  appea l  we s tand a  very  

good chance o f  succeed ing .   S iya  can w in ,  bu t  we 

can a lso  w in  as  Transnet ,  we have a  very,  very  good 

case aga ins t  h im there . ”  

So i t  seems then  tha t  the  d iscuss ion  tha t  you have w i th  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  on  the  4 t h  o f  February  then g i ves  r i se  to  your  

emai l ,  i t  i s  in  th is  contex t ,  the  debate  about  a l low ing Mr  

Gama’s  app l i ca t ion ,  cor rec t?  20 

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  what  i s  a l so  impor tan t  fo r  the  

purposes o f  you r  ev idence,  and we are  go ing  to  come to  i t  

jus t  now,  i s  you see how Mr  Mapoma is  rea l l y  dead  aga ins t  

se t t lement .  
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MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    In  fac t  he  says i t  wou ld  be  i r ra t iona l  

to  se t t le .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you see tha t?   And Mr  Mapona 

was as  fo r th r igh t  when i t  came to  the  issue o f  the  payment  

o f  Mr  Gama’s  costs ,  you might  have seen h is ,  l i s tened to  

h is  ev idence.  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    He was  u t te r ly  opposed  to  the  10 

payment  o f  Mr  Gama’s  costs ,  you  wou ld  have heard  tha t ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    I  saw tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  us  then go to  your  ema i l  o f  the  

next  day,  the  4 t h  o f  February.   We need to  go  back  p lease  

to  page 181 o f  th is  bund le ,  and he re  you say on  the  4 t h  o f  

February  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MAHLANGU:    The page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    181,  your  second emai l .  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say:  

“Dear  Min i s te r  

A t  my meet ing  w i th  Cha i r  . . . ”  

I  assume tha t  i s  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  

says  tha t  you wou ld  have he ld  tha t  meet ing  on  or  about  the  

same day.  

MR MAHLANGU:    P robab ly.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And rea l l y  what  you d iscussed w i th  

h im was th is  i ssue o f  Mr  Gama and h is  app l i ca t ion  fo r  

Group Ch ie f  Execut ive ,  co r rec t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a long the  way you a lso  

d iscussed w i th  h im the  issue o f  a  se t t lement  w i th  Mr  10 

Gama? 

MR MAHLANGU:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now the  two th ings were  in te r tw ined  

weren ’ t  they?  

MR MAHLANGU:    In  my v iew they were .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    They were  or  they weren ’ t?  

MR MAHLANGU:    They were .  

CHAIRPERSON:    They were ,  a l r igh t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  want  to  pu t  to  you . . . [ in te rvenes]  20 

MR MHLANGU :    You cannot.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You cannot? 

MR MHLANGU :    I t  is not  something we do.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  can you not  pressure your elder  

respect ful ly? 
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MR MHLANGU :    But  you persuade,  chai r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    And i f  not ,  you do not .   So I . . .  what  I  am 

trying to say Chai r.   I  d id not .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.   

MR MHLANGU :    I  d id  not .   And the way. . .  Chai r,  I  w ish I  

could play out  how we used to l ive between 1999 and 2019-

ish.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MHLANGU :    Thereabout and that .   This was a. . .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MHLANGU :    And why he denies that  he was at  those 

braais wi th us,  I  do not  know Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So Mr Mhlangu, then I  must  a lso put  to 

you.   We have deal t  wi th the mot ive and reason.   Then you 

say:  

“Wel l ,  I  would have raised these issues wi th  

Mr Mkwanazi . ”  

 But  that  is the point .   You see,  what  I  want to put  to you.   20 

An analyses of  the evidence may very wel l  ref lect  in  th is  

case.   But  Mr Mkwanazi  was only too keen to do this deal  

and give Mr Gama whatever he wanted.    

 The person that  was opposed to this,  certainly in rela t ion 

to costs,  was Mr Mapoma.  So i t  d id not . . .  i t  would not  help 
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you to phone Mr Mkwanazi .   Mr Mkwanazi  was not  the 

problem.   

MR MHLANGU :    Chai r,  I  th ink what I  am saying is  that  

Mr Mkwanazi  did  not  te l l  me that  Mr Mapoma had certain  

concerns about.   That  I  do not  know.  I  have lef t ,  l ike I  said.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  your reason . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    My view.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mkwanazi  did not  say he cal led you 

about that .   He also said he did not  recal l  whether  

Mr Mapoma had told him that  you had cal led him and 10 

pressuris ing him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then this paragraph where he say:  

Wel l ,  I  do not  refer to a si t t ing president  who is  

Number 1.”  

 I  mean, you cannot suggest  that  is persuasive.  

MR MHLANGU :    With respect .   I t  depends f rom which 

pol i t ical  t radi t ion you emerge f rom.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    Some cal led them chief  in a part icular area,  

dur ing the Mbeki  area.   With me, i t  has always been JZ or  20 

TM or those. . .  i t  is in your dai ly gr ind.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Did you phone th is man or not? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  do not  know i f  I  phoned the man as in and 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  . . . [ intervenes]   
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MR MHLANGU :    . . .and as a matter  of  a physical  phone cal l  

Chai r.   Because I  knew the gent leman wel l .   I  cannot deny 

that  I  p laced a physical  cal l  but  that  cal l  had been predicated 

on my social  relat ions wi th him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    I  d id not  cal l  h im Chair  to pressure him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    This is  a very important  evidence that  

you give now.  I  mean, do I  understand you know to be 

saying that  you accept  that  you phoned h im roundabout th is  

t ime? 10 

MR MHLANGU :    I  do not  accept  that .   I  am saying 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What were you saying? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  am saying.   I  cannot recal l  that  I  cal led 

him.  I  do not  deny that  I  may have placed a physical  

cal l . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And why would you have 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    . . . in the engineering . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Why would you have done that  around 20 

this t ime? 

MR MHLANGU :    Because I  know him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  yes that  is the point .  

MR MHLANGU :    Because I  know him.  Not  because I  

intended to pressure him, Mr Myburgh.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mhlangu, let  us just  deal  wi th th is  

because of  course this is not  something you deal  wi th  in your  

aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   So your point  is.   Is your point  

you may have cal led him but  the purpose would have been 

di fferent? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I f  you cal led him, you would have wanted 

to talk about  something else? 

MR MHLANGU :    We were going. . .  we ei ther spoke. . .  that  is  10 

why I  am saying.   Because I  knew him, i t  is d i ff icul t  for me to 

deny that  there could have been a phone cal l  dur ing that  

per iod.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MHLANGU :    Part icular ly,  Chair.   He was in the space 

that  I  knew.. .  that  he knew bet ter than I  was and I  was new 

at  the t ime. 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MHLANGU :    I t . . .  but  I  would not  p ick up the cal l  for the 

purposes of  pressur is ing him.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Could you have picked up a cal l  to  

persuade him? 

MR MHLANGU :    No,  I  was not .   L ike I  said,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR MHLANGU :    My view of  the matter was cl in ical .   This 
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th ing could have been deal t  wi th.   There was no urgency for 

me.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  H’m.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So you . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So you accept  then that  you may,  

dur ing the course of  February,  have placed a telephonic cal l  

to Mr Mapoma.   

MR MHLANGU :  That  is correct .      

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Why did you not  say that  in your  10 

aff idavi t?  

MR MHLANGU :    The cr i t ica l  th ing I  deal t  wi th in my aff idavi t  

was I  understood,  and this is my understanding,  was that  I  

pressured him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So can we then deal  wi th,  assuming 

you had made this cal l  because Mr Mapoma says there was 

one roundabout th is t ime in February.   What is i t  that  you 

would have discussed with him? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  do not  know Mr Myburgh.   I  do not  know.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You do not  know? 20 

MR MHLANGU :    What. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Can you not  even think what you might  

have discussed wi th h im? 

MR MHLANGU :    Mr Myburgh,  I  do not  know.   What I  am 

saying to you is that  I  knew the man.  There could have been 
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many things we could have spoken about.   I  could have 

sought advice about th ings happening at  Transnet .    

 I  could have sought th ings.   But  I  d id not  ca l l  h im to 

pressurise him because pressuris ing him is a speci f ic  event .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what typical ly. . .  because I  d id not  

know these facts before that  you seemingly would regular ly  

speak to  Mr Mapoma on the phone.  What typica l ly  then 

would you discuss wi th him? 

MR MHLANGU :    Mr Myburgh,  I  am unable to recal l  the 

issues but  l ike I  said to you.   We are in the same social  10 

ci rc le.   He was at  Transnet.   I  am new in the SOE 

environment.   I  could have asked for advice.    

 I  could have been discussing the happenings at  the t ime,  

r ight .   But  I  would not  have pressured him.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You see . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    That  is my evidence,  is that  I  d id not  

pressure Mr Mapoma.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You see Mr Mhlangu, you real ly now 

add something to my l ist  on the probabi l i t ies because you did 

phone him.  You do not  deny that  there could have been a 20 

discussion.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  d id not  say I  phoned him.  I  said because 

of  the nature of  my relat ion wi th Mr Mapoma . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . . i t  is possible that  I  may have phoned him,  
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Chai r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  but  what you are saying is,  that  

insofar as Mr Mapoma says,  one,  there was a telephone cal l .   

I  wi l l  not . . .  I  cannot dispute that .   Because I  might  ord inar i ly  

phone him.   

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.   And i t  is real ly important  what you 

say because you were new on the block,  r ight?  Here was 

someone inside Transnet that  you knew wel l ,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  I  th ink I  have al ready made 

my points to you.   I  just  want to ask you one more.   What is  

i t  that  you would typical ly speak to  Mr Mapoma about when 

you placed these cal ls to him? 

MR MHLANGU :    Chai r,  I  have answered this quest ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    What is the answer? 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Maybe, let  me put  i t  th is way.   You 

did say you had regular interact ions wi th Mr Mkwanazi .   Is 

that  r ight? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Did you also have regular  

interact ions wi th Mr Mapoma? 

MR MHLANGU :    Not  to my recol lect ion Chai r.   I t  is not  

regular but  i t  is not  unusual  for a cal l  to have happened.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.    
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MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now, whenever you had interact ions wi th  

him by way of  phone cal ls,  what type of  issues would you 

have discussed with him during that  t ime, general ly  

speaking? 

MR MHLANGU :    Chai r,  and I  am just  saying this,  t ry ing to  

reconst ruct .   I  th ink that  I  would have sought certain insights 

on things that  would have ei ther been happening at  Transnet  

or in the SOE environment in general .    

 And that  probably would then dovetai led to whatever  10 

other social  d iscussions there could have been at  the t ime.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  I  mean, then you. . .  you 

make real ly the very point  I  am dr iv ing at .   I t  would have 

been insights.   Here the common issue between you and 

Mr Mapoma was Mr Gama.  Both of  you were deal ing wi th  

that ,  correct? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is correct .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Al l  the more reason then why 

you would have had the discussion that  he descr ibes.  20 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is impossible.   I t  is impossible,  Chai r.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Then I  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLANGU :    I  stand here today pained to t ry to 

remember.   To t ry  to say why.   I  have spoken to some of  the 

people I  knew who also know him who was senior and I  was 
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l ike,  th is for me is bizarre.   And Mr Myburgh,  i t  rea l ly pa ins 

me.  So I  do not  know.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    We are at  eight  minutes past  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  have got  only one more quest ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay al r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Chairperson,  i f  I  may.   I  mean, i t  might  

lead to one or two others but  i t  wi l l  not  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no.   That  is f ine.   I  just  wanted 10 

to have an idea that . . .  I  wanted us to  have. . .  to go on the 

same page.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Certainly.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  mean, we.. .  for  purposes of  f in ishing.   I  

do not  mind i f  we go up to hal f -past  one i f  everybody is f ine 

wi th that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Fine.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Rather than adjourn for lunch and come 

back.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  look but  . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Would that  be f ine wi th you? 

MR MHLANGU :    That  is f ine wi th me Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what I  then want to ask you and I  

mean I  suppose there is a shortcut  way of  deal ing wi th i t .   
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Did you l isten to the evidence of  Mr  Mkwanazi? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  l istened to the evidence of  Mr Mkwanazi .   

Yes,  on Monday.   Is that  r ight? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And I  am not . . .  I  am just  going to ask 

you this and you can comment i f  you want to comment.   But  

certainly on an analyses of  the evidence that  was led by 

Mr Mkwanazi .    

 I t  is certa inly arguable that  the only rat ional  basis for the 

re instatement of  Mr Gama on the terms that  he was 

re instated is that  there must  have been an instruct ion,  a  10 

pol i t ical  instruct ion because otherwise,  i t  makes absolutely  

no sense.    

MR MHLANGU :    Chai r,  I  cannot comment on that .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Because that  is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  maybe one can ask this.   And maybe 

your answer that  you cannot comment includes this but  I  just  

want to make sure.   You have had a chance to look at  that  

set t lement,  the terms of  that  set t lement agreement,  have you 

not? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  have Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   I  asked Mr Mkwanazi  when he gave 

evidence here what he would say i f  somebody said i t  was 

indefensible.   The reinstatement of  Mr Gama was 

indefensible in the l ight  of  everything that  he said and i f  he 

considered that  i t  was indefensible.    
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 Would you share that  or is that  something you prefer not  

to comment on? 

MR MHLANGU :    I  wi l l  leave that  to the Board of  Transnet,  

Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay al r ight .   You see. . .  okay,  

maybe let  me al low Mr Myburgh to f in ish his quest ions.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  is real ly the only quest ion that  I  

had.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Look,  you see Mr Mhlangu, when one 

looks at  that  set t lement agreement and I  would have 10 

expected you as an experienced lawyer to have a view about  

whether th is is,  on the face of  i t .    

 I  mean, you might  not  know a l l  the facts but  on the face 

of  i t ,  whether i t  seems.. .  i t  does not  seem very strange.    

 But  when you look at  i t ,  you say to yoursel f  but  why 

would the Board of  Transnet  conclude a set t lement 

agreement on these terms?   

 Part icular ly when you have read the judgment and court  

of  rul ing of  the chai rperson of  the discipl inary inqui ry.   And of  

course,  there is also a report  or opinion by Mr Todd f rom 20 

Bowman Gi l f i l lan who was Transnet ’s at torney in regard to  

the Gama matter unt i l  h is mandate was terminated somet ime,  

I  th ink,  in January.    

 And he and Transnet. . .  the board took the matter to  

Deneys Rei tz.   One of  the things they do is,  they undertake 
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to pay Mr Gama’s 75% of  Mr Gama’s costs in relat ion to a 

high court  appl icat ion that  he had brought before his  

discipl inary inquiry where he sought to interdict  the 

discipl inary inquiry and he lost .    

 And the high cour t  ordered h im to pay Transnet ’s costs.   

Now that  was a matter that  had been f inal ised.   He appl ied 

for leave to appeal .   That  was refused.   That  matter was 

f inal ised.    

 The high court  had ordered costs in favour of  Transnet.   

When they set t le  the dismissal  matter,  they say instead of  10 

enforcing the high court  costs order  in  thei r  favour  against  

Mr Gama, they inst ruct  Mr Todd who had gone a long way to 

t ry and recover those costs.   That  is about  R 426 000,00.   

They inst ruct  him to stop that .    

 And instead,  they say:   Mr Gama, we wi l l  pay 75% of  

your  costs.   Now I  do not  know about you but  throughout  my 

experience [ laughing]  in law, I  have never heard of  anything 

l ike that  Of a party who has been ordered by a court  to pay 

my costs.    

 I  say:   No,  do not  worry.   I  wi l l  pay 75% of  your costs.   I t  20 

is something that  is unthinkable.   And then they say he 

must . . .  they give him a f inal  wri t ten warning.   But  they say 

the f inal  wri t ten warning wi l l  begin to have started running 

f rom the day he was dismissed for s ix months and six  months 

ended in December 2010.   
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 They are signing the set t lement agreement in February 

2011.  So i t  is ineffect ive.   You say:  What were they th inking?  

How can you g ive a wri t ten warning that  wi l l  not  be 

appl icable when the person comes back?   

 Then they say:   Okay in re lat ion to the unfai r  d ismissal  

c la im, we wi l l  a lso pay 75% of  Mr Gama’s costs.    

 Now, I  do not  know how much labour matters you know 

but  Mr Myburgh here and Mr Todd, you know, deal  a  lot  wi th  

labour matters.    

 And labour matters,  you know, in the Bargaining Counci l ,  10 

CCMA and Labour Court ,  i t  is  not  easy for the losing party  to  

be ordered to pay costs for the winning party.    

 I t  is  something very rare.   And here,  th is  is what  the 

Transnet Board undertook to do in ci rcumstances where 

Mr Gama had been given a very fai r  d iscipl inary process.    

 In ci rcumstances where he had been found gui l ty of  

three very ser ious acts of  misconduct .    

 In ci rcumstances where,  at  that  t ime, the board knew 

that  he accepted that  he had been properly found gui l ty o f  

those.   He was no longer disput ing that .    20 

 Then you ask yoursel f  the quest ion:   Under what  

ci rcumstances would a board have ever thought they were at  

r isk of  being ordered by the Bargaining Counci l  to pay 100% 

of  his costs because that  is the only th inking one can think 

of .    
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 To say:   Wel l ,  maybe they thought wel l  let  us offer  to  pay 

75% so that . . .  because we are at  r isk of  being ordered to pay 

100%.  You do not  understand al l  of  those things.    

 That  is apart  f rom other th ings.   Those are just  some of  

the things.   But  you might  st i l l . . .  you might  not  be able to say 

anything.  

MR MHLANGU :    Look Chai r,  I  would only express a v iew l ike 

yours.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    Because I  do not  know . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MHLANGU :    . . .what  the board . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes,  yes.   Yes,  so. . .  but  the point  I  

wanted to make is,  that  when you have a set t lement  

agreement l ike that ,  you look for a  reason why the employer  

would set t le on those terms which are very much in favour of  

the employee and against  the employer.    

 And you look at  the meri ts of  the case,  you wi l l  f ind that  20 

the employer  had a very st rong case.   So i t  cannot be. . .  so 

you say i t  does not  look l ike i t  can be the meri ts of  the case 

that  drove them to agree to these terms.  So what is  i t?  You 

start  looking,  okay?   

 And then of  course,  Mr Mkwanazi  says at  the f i rst  
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meet ing I  had wi th Minister Gigaba where he offered me the 

posi t ion of  Chair  of  the board which I  subsequent ly accepted.    

 One of  the issues he ra ised upfront  was the issue of  Mr 

Gama’s dismissal  and Mr Mkwanazi  said Minister Gigaba 

expressed the view that  Mr Gigaba’s(sic) dismissal  had been 

unfai r.   And he instructed him and the board to review the 

matter.   That  is what happened.   

 And then of  course,  Mr Mapoma.  Here is the evidence 

that  he gave including that  you cal led him and pressured and 

pressured him.   10 

 And then in the contexts of  al l  of  th is,  one has to  go 

back to the evidence of  Ms Barbara Hogan which Mr Myburgh 

appl ied ear l ier on.   Ms Barbara Hogan said the then 

President ,  Mr Zuma when she recommended.. .   

 She told him that  the board had recommended Mr S ipho 

Maseko for the posi t ion of  Group CEO for Transnet,  

responded by saying:   He had only one choice and his choice 

for that  posi t ion was Mr Gama.   

 Mr Zuma has denied having said that .   But  in  the end,  i f  

the f inding were to be that  Ms Hogan’s evidence is t rue then 20 

one would then look at  what happened af ter.   And one looks 

at  th is kind of  myster ious re instatement of  Mr Gama.   

 And actual ly,  about ,  wi thin three years af ter that ,  a f ter  

he has been reinstated to th is posi t ion,  he actual ly becomes 

Group CEO of  Transnet.    
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 So one cannot divorce a considerat ion of  the issues form 

al l  of  th is.   So I  thought I  would just  ment ion that  to  you.   To 

say,  you know, there are al l  these aspects that  have to be 

looked into.    

MR MHLANGU :    I  agree,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MHLANGU :    Chai r,  I  th ink that . . .  you have asked that  

quest ion about.  For me, as you were going through i t ,  my 

quest ion was.    

 In a set t lement you want to know what the other party  10 

gave and what you are buying.   And those are determinat ions 

which I  th ink were made by the board.    

 So I  am unable. . .  I  am also reading i t  c l in ical ly.   From a 

lawyers ’ perspect ive,  i t  is a b i t  cur ious.   But  I  do not  know i f  

there were commercial  considerat ions which must  be brought  

before you by the board.     

 And I  want. . .  and the reason I  do not  want to comment  

deeply on i t  is  because the board at  the t ime had eminent  

persons in i t  wi th  very ser ious exper ience and running b ig 

corporates including l isted companies.    20 

 So that  I  why I  would. .  I  want  to defer that  to there.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MHLANGU :    But  insofar as my part  is concerned Chai r.   

I  have said what I  have said and I  th ink Chai r,  I  cannot take 

i t  further.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MHLANGU :    Other than the fact  that  I  was in no. . .  I  was 

not  in an auto modem(?).  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR MHLANGU :    I  exercised my judgment as I  saw i t .   I  gave 

advice and when necessary,  I  would just  let  the system work.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   Okay.   No,  thank you.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    We have no further quest ions.   Thank 

you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Thank you.    10 

MR MHLANGU :    Thank you,  Mr Myburgh.   Thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you very much Mr Mhlangu for  

coming to assist  the Commission.   I  th ink probably you would 

st i l l  come back because of  the other matters but  thank you 

very much for coming to assist  the Commission.  

MR MHLANGU :    Thank you Chai r  and thanks Mr Myburgh.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You are excused.  So we wi l l  adjourn for 

the day.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And just  for the publ ic,  next  week the 20 

Commission wi l l  hear  evidence relat ing to  Denel .   We 

adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:    A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 26 OCTOBER 2020 


